


 

 

 

 

 

 



ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
 Page 3 of 128 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION   |   HE KUPU WHAKATAKI ....................................................................................................... 4 

REPORT FROM THE AUDIT OFFICE    |   TE PÙRONGORONGO O TE TÀTARI KAUTE ................................. 6 

COUNCILLORS AND THEIR CONTACT DETAILS    |   NGÀ KAIKAUNIHERA ................................................ 10 

COUNCIL STRATEGY   |   TE RAUTAKI KAUNIHERA ...................................................................................... 11 

COUNCIL VISION ................................................................................................................................................. 11 

COUNCIL OUTCOMES ........................................................................................................................................ 11 

FINANCIAL STRATEGY LIMITS ........................................................................................................................... 12 

KEY TOPICS FOR THE 2019-20 YEAR    |   KAUPAPA MÀTUA MO TE TAU 2019-20 .................................... 13 

CONCEPT PLANS   |   NGĀ MAHERE O TE ĀPŌPŌ ......................................................................................... 15 

REPORT ON ACHIEVEMENT OF OBJECTIVES IN FUNDING AND FINANCIAL POLICIES ............................ 17 

RATES REMISSION AND POSTPONEMENT POLICIES REPORT ..................................................................... 17 

REVENUE AND FINANCING POLICY REPORT .................................................................................................. 18 

SUMMARY OF ACTUAL AND TARGET REVENUE SOURCES ........................................................................... 19 

ANNUAL REPORT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2020 ............................. 20 

TRANSPORT AND ROADING   |   WAKA ME NGĀ HUARAHI .......................................................................... 25 

WATER SUPPLY   |   NGĀ WAI WHAKAWHIWHI .............................................................................................. 29 

WASTEWATER   |   WAIPARA ............................................................................................................................ 33 

STORMWATER   |   WAIWĀTEA ......................................................................................................................... 37 

SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING  |   HANGARUA ME NGĀ MĀRŌ PARA ..................................................... 40 

PARKS AND RESERVES   |   NGĀ PAPA ME NGĀ RAHUI ............................................................................... 43 

COMMUNITY FACILITIES   |   NGĀ WĀHI HAPORI ........................................................................................... 49 

ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT   |   TE HAPORI WHAKATUPU ME TE PAKIHI ................... 52 

REGULATORY   |   TE TAIAO ............................................................................................................................. 55 

GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE   |   RATONGA RANGAPŪ ME TEWANA ................................................. 60 

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION   |   TE KAIHOKO KI TE KIRITAKI ...................................................................... 63 

WLASS REPORT   |   TE PŪRONGORONGO O WLASS ................................................................................... 67 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   |   NGĀ MŌHIOHIO PŪTEA .................................................................................. 78 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE .......................................................................................................................... 78 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSES .................................................................... 79 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY .............................................................................................................. 80 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ............................................................................................................. 81 

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS ........................................................................................................................... 82 

FUNDING IMPACT STATEMENT – WHOLE OF COUNCIL .................................................................................. 83 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ...................................................................................................... 84 



ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
 Page 4 of 128 

INTRODUCTION   |   HE KUPU WHAKATAKI 

MESSAGE FROM THE MAYOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

The 2019-20 financial year was certainly unusual with Council activities and projects progressing as normal until 
early 2020 when the COVID-19 pandemic emerged. This pandemic impacted our Council and community 
significantly, as it did across New Zealand and around the world.  

Council remains in a strong financial position despite the fact that our debt increased this year from $15.6m to 
$17m. This increase was mainly due to the major project work undertaken to date in the Wastewater Services area 
in relation to the Sludge and Digester upgrade. We do have investments of $21m set aside for replacement of our 
assets.  

Our operating deficit was lower than expected at $0.1m deficit against a budget of $1.1m surplus. Most of this was 
because of the operating expenses in our Water and Wastewater services to meet compliance requirements and 
lower than expected finance revenue with lower interest income earned on operational bank accounts and the BNZ 
Portfolio. 

Council made progress on some significant projects and outcomes over the course of the year. 

Every three years we hold triennial elections and our community votes in a new Council. In October 2019 we saw 
five new faces welcomed to the Council table and said goodbye to several others who had served our organisation 
and community well over many decades. Changing faces bring opportunities, challenges, a new focus and fresh 
ideas. 

Following 18 months of engagement and collaboration with our iwi partner Raukawa, other iwi stakeholders, expert 
consultants and public consultation we made key decisions regarding the future of our wastewater treatment plants. 
The first of these capital works projects – a new digester at the Tokoroa Wastewater Treatment Plant, valued at 
$9.6 million, started prior to 1 July this year. Over the next 20 years we will be spending around $30 million on 
various components including plant upgrades, wetlands and discharge improvements. The wastewater upgrade 
programme will be funded and actioned over many years to ensure the upgrades remain affordable for our 
community.  

Following Council’s consultation with our community regarding the urban household rubbish and recycling 
collection service in 2018, where options included combinations of the current rubbish bags, current recycling 
crates and new wheelie bins, the community’s overwhelming response was to move to wheelie bins for both rubbish 
and recycling, retaining the crates for glass only. This decision was set for implementation in October last year but 
was later postponed due to COVID-19 and will now be introduced next July. 

Work continued towards closing the Tokoroa landfill with the construction of a new Tokoroa Transfer Station at the 
landfill site. From October 2020 our rubbish will be transported out of the district. The cost and risks of managing 
a landfill continues to escalate due to the stringent environmental controls and monitoring and increasing cost of 
carbon credits and operations over which we have no control.  

Responding to economic growth - both population and business - has been a focus of Council over the past two 
years. Staff have made significant progress on two District Plan Changes in Putāruru to rezone land for residential 
and business development and fund infrastructure upgrades. Identifying water, wastewater and stormwater 
capacity is also well underway in Tokoroa, Tīrau and Arapuni to establish our capacity in these towns for increased 
population and business growth. 

The long-awaited Tokoroa CBD upgrade was delayed during the COVID-19 lockdown. This has pushed 
construction through winter months, which is never ideal with weather related delays. The project is on track to be 
open in November and the project is also under budget. We are looking forward to having our beautiful new CBD 
area, new toilets and grassed plaza area available for our community and visitors to enjoy. 

There has been significant business investment interest in the South Waikato and Council has worked hard to bring 
in new jobs to the district and attract Central Government funding. Council continues to collaborate with the South 
Waikato Investment Fund Trust (SWIFT) on a range of initiatives such as attracting new businesses, business 
training and positioning the South Waikato to attract business investment. Economic development, recovery and 
business assistance was a key focus pre and post-lockdown. We continue to provide support and advocacy for 
businesses in the South Waikato. 

We successfully adopted our Annual Plan 2019-20 following a period of community consultation. The Annual Plan 
changed from Year 3 of the LTP 2018-28 in that Council was determined to deliver a zero per cent rate revenue 
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increase. We achieved this by postponing the introduction of the wheelie bins, postponing some projects to later 
years, staging several projects over more than one year and not funding some three waters replacement reserves 
for just one year. This doesn’t mean we’re not actually carrying out actual asset replacements. 

Work on the next LTP 2021-31 has already started.  

A number of other projects for the 2019-20 financial year are highlighted below: 

The Tīrau Walkway was opened in July last year. This walkway is part of the wider Tīrau Domain project. Further 
improvements are budgeted for future years. 

We launched our new attraction website in March this year, Space to Grow, coupled with social sites including 
Facebook and Instagram. This new website delivers a separate brand to improve our economic profile with a focus 
on who we are, why we’re a great place to invest and to showcase the great opportunities we have in the district. 

While the Tīrau i-SITE continues to operate, we closed the Tokoroa i-SITE in September, delivering services from 
businesses in town and via Council offices and library. Council couldn’t justify an i-SITE service when visitor 
numbers using the service as a tourist centre were extremely low. 

Following the resignation of a Tīrau Community Board member we held a by-election during June and were thrilled 
to have Christine Brasell join the team who was elected unopposed. At the same time Kerry Purdy was elected as 
TCB Chair. 

Council announced its two new Mayoral Scholarship recipients in November last year, congratulating Ryan Hall of 
Forest View High School and Eshrita Lata of Tokoroa High School. 

Recycling world markets continue to provide complexities for Council and our community. Plastics recycling 
especially is an increasingly costly venture and we all need to make improvements in the quality of the recycling 
product we put in our crates and drop off at the recycling zones. World markets dictate what products can be sold 
and processed. If Council can’t sell the product, we can’t collect it. 

Our focus on improving relationships is going from strength to strength. We held successful meetings and sessions 
with individuals, groups and organisations from business sectors including forestry, estate agents and agricultural, 
and with our Pacific Island communities. Our relationship with Raukawa and other iwi continues to improve. 
Improved relationships play an important role in our collaborative delivery of programmes, events and initiatives for 
our community. This in turn enhances our resilience as a community, as a district and as a Council. 

Our Annual Report message looking back at 2019-20 wouldn’t be complete without expressing our huge 
appreciation to our community for their lockdown efforts. Special thanks and appreciation to the many community 
groups and individuals who stepped into the role of supporting others in the community, coordinating and delivering 
food parcels, checking in with elderly neighbours and spending local when and where you can. Extra special 
gratitude to our own Council staff, who worked long hours on the civil defence response, while keeping many of 
our services on track. The pressures of lockdown on families, businesses and our economy has been tremendous 
and it’s not over yet. Recovery is going to take years. We tackled COVID-19 together and together we can tackle 
the future. 

The 2019-20 year has certainly been a massive one, complicated by a world-wide pandemic that at the time 
of writing is still a significant issue in many countries. Council has taken the bull by the horns in terms of 
supporting, facilitating, attracting and seeking economic opportunities to grow and improve our district 
and respond to our growing population and towns and we can’t slow down even in these uncertain times. 
We are rising to the challenge and 2020-21 already looks set to be another huge year. 

Jenny Shattock QSM JP Ben Smit 

MAYOR CHIEF EXECUTIVE 



ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
 Page 6 of 128 



ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
 Page 7 of 128 

Leave blank for audit report 



ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
 Page 8 of 128 

Leave blank for audit report 



ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
 Page 9 of 128 

Leave blank for audit report 



ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
 Page 10 of 128 

COUNCILLORS AND THEIR CONTACT DETAILS    |   NGÀ KAIKAUNIHERA 

Councillors from left to right back row: Gary Petley, Marin Glucina, Peter Schulte, Hamish Daine, Hans Nelis, Alex Jansen, 
Deputy Mayor William (Bill) Machen. 
Left to right front row: Arama Ngapo-Lipscombe, Her Worship the Mayor Jenny Shattock, Thomas Lee, Sandra Wallace 

Councillor Name Phone number Email Address Ward 
Jenny Shattock QSM JP 0274416230 Jenny.Shattock@southwaikato.govt.nz Mayor 
William (Bill) Machen 0274715899 Bill.Machen@southwaikato.govt.nz Deputy Mayor 
Hamish Daine 0211259225 Hamish.Daine@southwaikato.govt.nz Tokoroa 
Marin Glucina 021416076 Marin.Glucina@southwaikato.govt.nz Tokoroa 
Alex Jansen 0279581906 Alex.Jansen@southwaikato.govt.nz Tokoroa 
Thomas Lee 0273321292 Thomas.Lee@southwaikato.govt.nz Tokoroa 
Hans Nelis 0210552306 Hans.Nelis@southwaikato.govt.nz Putāruru 
Arama Ngapo-Lipscombe 0275339988 Arama.Ngapo-

Lipscombe@southwaikato.govt.nz
Tokoroa 

Gary Petley 0274836809 Gary.Petley@southwaikato.govt.nz Putāruru 
Peter Schulte 021434933 Peter.Schulte@southwaikato.govt.nz Tīrau 
Sandra Wallace 02102913702 Sandra.Wallace@southwaikato.govt.nz Putāruru 

TĪRAU COMMUNITY BOARD MEMBERS 

Name Phone Number Email Address 
Kerry Purdy 0275427158 Kerry.Purdy@southwaikato.govt.nz 
Kevin Slater 0272402267 Kevin.Slater@southwaikato.govt.nz
Sharon Burling-Claridge 078831776 Sharon.Burling-Claridge@southwaikato.govt.nz
Christine Brasell 021849417 Christine.Brasell@southwaikato.govt.nz 
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COUNCIL STRATEGY   |   TE RAUTAKI KAUNIHERA 

The Council strategy is set in the Long-Term Plan 2018-28. It presents what Council is going to do for 
the next ten years to make our district a better place to live, work and play. 

At the core of our strategy is Council’s vision (how Council envisages its community in 30 years' time), 
outcomes (what Council would like to achieve to make the vision a reality) and strategies (what Council 
will actually do to achieve the outcomes). To put it simply, everything that Council does should align 
with its strategies, outcomes and vision. 

The 2018-28 Long-Term Plan was adopted in 2018 and will be reported against in the 2019-20 Annual 
Report.  

COUNCIL VISION 

The Council vision describes how Council would like to see our community in 30 years.  

Our vision is 'Healthy people thriving in a safe, vibrant and sustainable community'. 

COUNCIL OUTCOMES 

Council's community engagement has helped shape our new outcomes, mentioned earlier in this 
document - Growth, Resilience and Relationships. These are the driving forces behind our decision 
making for the future.  

 In terms of GROWTH Council aims to increase population and jobs, reduce unemployment,
increase average earnings and improve the deprivation index.

 In terms of RESILIENCE, both Council and the community, need to anticipate, resist, respond to
and recover from significant change or events.
This includes community, cultural, economic and environmental resilience as well as Council's
infrastructure. This will help us to be prepared, lessen the effects of change and recover quickly.

Resilience covers a wide range of topics such as civil defence and storm events, how Council
manages its financial position, the affordability of rates and asset replacement, and
environmental sustainability and its ability to recover from difficult situations.

 In terms of RELATIONSHIPS, Council will build stronger relationships with Iwi and Māori, along
with community and business groups to ensure that by working together Council can achieve
growth and a resilient community.

Relationships with Iwi and Māori will be developed through strong governance models, building
management/operational relationships, the development of cultural understanding among staff
and elected members and undertaking joint projects.

Council recognises the important contribution our Pacific Peoples make towards the economic,
environmental, social and cultural strength of our district. They make up 12% of our population
and add significant cultural diversity to our community. Council will continue to work
collaboratively with our Pacific Peoples to achieve mutual benefits and enhance relationships.

Growth Resilience Relationships
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Council will also be talking to businesses and other community groups through improved 
engagement models so that we can better understand each other and share knowledge. Council 
wants to do more joint community projects and provide on-going operations of facilities and 
services together. However, Council also needs to work towards helping community groups that 
rely heavily on Council funding to be more self-sufficient and encourage independence. 
Partnership models with business will focus on economic development and, more directly, job 
creation and training. 

FINANCIAL STRATEGY LIMITS 

Council recognises the financial constraints on our community, especially with the added pressures 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Through these challenging times it is imperative that Council 
maintains and protects financial integrity. Council has set limits on the amount of rates that it can collect 
and the amount of debt that it can accumulate. Whether we have achieved compliance with these limits 
is discussed below. 

Financial Measure Limit Achieved? Comment 

Rates Increase Rates revenue increases will 
not be larger than 9% for any 
year 

Yes Rates increase was 7.5% 

External debt External loans not to exceed 
100% of total revenue 

Yes External loans as at 30 June 2020 were 
$17m. Total revenue for 2019-20 was $38.9m 
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KEY TOPICS FOR THE 2019-20 YEAR    |   KAUPAPA MÀTUA MO TE TAU 2019-20 

The Annual Plan 2019-20 was a year to prepare for the 2021-31 Long Term Plan. 

Council planned to focus on the district’s infrastructure while accommodating the anticipated legislation 
changes, while implementing GROWTH development in the district.  

The COVID-19 pandemic tested the Council’s and community’s RESILIENCE and RELATIONSHIPS. 
Many lessons were learned as Council had to reprioritise work programmes. 

ENGAGEMENT AND COMMUNICATION 

At the beginning of the 2019-20 financial year Council’s Community, Corporate and Regulatory Groups 
went through a structure review and as a result, the Community and Corporate groups merged. 

During 2019-20, more resources were made available to increase and improve Council’s engagement 
with our community groups. 

The Strategy and Engagement team’s role is to work across the Council department in an integrated 
manner and to deliver programmes on the Council’s key focus areas such as Warm Homes, Clean Air 
and Waste Minimisation. The Community Programme Coordinators have been proactive, meeting with 
groups and going into public spaces to increase the participation in consultation and to provide events 
that celebrate the diversity of the district. 

The Community Development Coordinator’s role is to work with communities to gather aspirations of 
groups and how these could be implemented as part of the town’s concept plans. These concept plans 
will inform the Long-Term Plan 2021-31. 

COVID-19 highlighted Council’s need to have multiple tools to engage with and tools that will reach our 
younger audience. Council investigated different tools and will be using these to engage during the 
2020-21 year. 

SOLID WASTE 

The design of the Transfer Station at the Tokoroa Landfill site was completed during the year and 
construction is underway with a slight delay caused by COVID-19. 

It was anticipated that the district would move to using wheelie bins, but this was deferred due to the 
international impact of COVID-19 and a delay in the delivery of the bins from China. This enabled 
Council to push out implementation for a year and contributed to the savings on rates. 

Council’s contractor EnviroWaste purchased a new recycling truck and is trialling it in our district. By 
gathering data on what and how our communities are disposing of their rubbish, Council is developing 
a programme to help clean up our rubbish and care for our environment. 

WASTEWATER PLANT UPGRADES / RESOURCE CONSENT 

The design for the new digester at the Tokoroa Wastewater Treatment plant is complete including the 
resource consent.  

Council is now moving into the physical build of the digester and anticipates that this project will be 
completed in 2021. 

Council had also planned to begin building the Tīrau wetlands as part of our wastewater consent 
requirement.  This was delayed due to COVID-19. The project is now due to be completed by the 2020-
21 financial year. 
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WAI ORA / HEALTHY RIVERS PLAN CHANGE 1 

Waikato Regional Council continued with their consultation on Wai Ora/Healthy Rivers Plan Change 1 
(PC1). Although Council supports the principle of sustainable management, PC1 did not provide clarity 
and certainty on the implementation, administration of its provision for landowners and land managers 
in our district.  

Council has requested that amendments be made to provide clarity that contained effects-based rules 
to regulate land use practices and activities that promote sustainable community and sub-catchment 
solutions. 

Waikato Regional Council gave notice on 22 April 2020 of its decision on provisions and matters raised, 
and a hearing is to be held at the Environmental Court that our Council has an appeal requesting relief 
from the implementation of the proposed plan. 

AIR QUALITY NATIONAL STANDARD 

The Ministry for the Environment consulted on the measurement for air quality, which was due to close 
in May, but the consultation was extended to 31 July 2020 due to COVID-19. 

Council provided a submission to the proposed change, as the change would have an impact on our 
district. The new proposed measure would see Putāruru lose its clean air shed status and Tokoroa may 
never be able to reach the proposed level. 

Tokoroa is positioned in lowland and our district being situated on State Highway 1, meaning that there 
are extra challenges for our community to ameliorate. The cost of the proposed change would create 
added stress to our community who already live in highly deprived areas. The Ministry has not provided 
a date on when a decision on the air quality policy will be made. 

ELECTIONS AND REPRESENTATION 

Local Government elections were held in October 2019. The Mayoral position and Tīrau representative 
were elected unopposed. Three new representatives were elected for Putāruru and two new 
representatives for Tokoroa. The three new representatives for Putāruru meant that the ward would 
have no previous representative continue into the new term.  

Matariki night markets in Tokoroa 17 July 2020 
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CONCEPT PLANS   |   NGĀ MAHERE O TE ĀPŌPŌ 

The Concept Plans are documents that capture the short, medium and long-term aspirations of our 
communities.  

The council works collaboratively with communities to develop an understanding of what community 
groups what in their neighbourhoods and townships. Council does this through sharing with 
communities the opportunities that are available and what plans and projects can be developed under 
current legislation. Together Council and communities decide how each group will participate in 
implementing the concept plan, which includes advocating for external support and applying for funding. 

The plans are intended to evolve alongside the 2021-31 Long-Term Plan process and finally inform the 
Long-Term Plan.  

From discussions held with the community groups, there is not a lot of change from the current Long-
Term Plan (2018-28) and there are some common themes across the townships such as: 

 Employment Opportunities  

 Business Support – start-ups and leadership 

 Unique identity plus connections to each village/town as the South Waikato District 

 Walkways, reserves and parks 

 Connectivity and Accessibility – roads, footpaths, transport and digital 

 Youth 

TOKOROA CONCEPT PLAN 

Tokoroa is currently implementing the plan for the redevelopment of the town centre focussing on Leith 
Place. The Tokoroa CBD continues to be a focus area with the effects from COVID-19 on the business 
communities within the district.   

Tokoroa communities are also interested in how the sport and recreational facilities are used, alongside 
parks and reserves. Council collaborated with Sport Waikato to develop a survey to gain insight into 
what our communities want. The findings of this research will inform Council plans. 

Council has been meeting with interested stakeholders to discuss the use of the Airport. The findings 
from these engagements will also inform the Council plans. 

TIRAU CONCEPT PLAN 

The Tīrau Community Board has supported the consultation with Tīrau residents on the draft concept 
plan after reviewing the previous plan which provided a solid base for an update to reflect current 
priorities. 

The main themes are road safety, well maintained footpaths, CCTV and continued development at 
Tīrau Domain as a community recreational space that brings together residents and visitors to enjoy 
the natural resources, public facilities and intergenerational spaces. 

CCTV was included in the Annual Plan 2020-21 consultation and it was decided that CCTV and free 
WiFi will be implemented in Tīrau. Like the other towns, this will be funded through a targeted rate. 
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ARAPUNI CONCEPT PLAN 

The Arapuni Village Community Association has supported the consultation with Arapuni residents on 
their draft concept plan, in preparation for the Long-Term Plan 2021-31. 

The main themes for Arapuni are the safety of roads and footpaths, their internet connectivity and 
recreational activities for residents. 

PUTĀRURU CONCEPT PLAN 

The main focus for Putāruru over the 2019-20 year was development of new subdivisions and the 
funding of the infrastructure required in the planned growth areas. 

The Putāruru Growth Plan is a big project for our district that required the establishment of a 
Development and Financial Contribution (DFC) Policy and a district plan change. The proposed 
sections of development were consulted on along with the DFC Policy and funding options as part of a 
special consultation process for an amendment to the current 2018-28 Long-Term Plan. The Long-
Term Plan Amendment, DFC Policy and the district plan change have all been approved for the 
Putāruru Growth Plan. 

Pride in Putāruru and Putāruru Moving Forward in partnership with Council continue to work towards 
the planning of the skate park and water feature.  Recreational spaces such as Nola Block/Totara Park 
and Glenshea Park are identified as important assets in this community. 
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REPORT ON ACHIEVEMENT OF OBJECTIVES IN FUNDING AND FINANCIAL POLICIES 

 

RATES REMISSION AND POSTPONEMENT POLICIES REPORT 

Background  

Council has adopted policies in relation to the remission and postponement of rates. There are a 
number of circumstances in which applications are considered. Remissions include:  

 Community, sporting and other organisations  

 Rates on land protected for natural, historical or cultural conservation purposes  

 Uniform annual general charges and targeted rates on non-contiguous rural rating units in 
common ownership  

 Penalties  

 Māori freehold land  

 Uncollectable rates 

 Multiple dwellings with a common use on one rating unit 

 Water rates due to leaks 

REMISSION GRANTED 2018-19 2019-20 

 Number Amount ($) 
Including 

GST 

Number Amount ($) 
Including 

GST 

Community, sporting and other 
organisations  56 117,062 57 127,300 

Rates on land protected for natural, 
historical or cultural conservation 
purposes  

2 45 2 47 

Uniform annual general charges and 
targeted rates on non-contiguous rural 
rating units in common ownership  

25 19,870 25 17,933 

Penalties  609 58,670 495 42,641 

Māori freehold land  6 6,468 6 6,111 

Uncollectable rates 0 0 0 0 

Multiple dwellings with a common use on 
one rating unit  3 4,808 5 7,643 

Water rates due to leaks 6 4,479 8 13,538 
 

Rating Information 

As at 30 June 2020, the number and value of the rating units in the South Waikato District were: 

Number of rating units 10,109 

The total capital value of the rating units 6,820,595,500 

The total land value of the rating units 3,870,203,300 
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REVENUE AND FINANCING POLICY REPORT 

Background 

The Revenue and Finance Policy describes where Council will receive its funding from, including what 
sort of rating model it will use. 
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SUMMARY OF ACTUAL AND TARGET REVENUE SOURCES 

Funding revenue source – budgeted 2019-20 

Funding revenue source – actual 2019-20 

General rates 54%

Finance revenue 1%

Targeted rates (incl 
Water) 22%

Fees & Charges 
11% 

Subsidies/Grants 
10%

Other revenue 2%

General rates 52%

Finance revenue 1%

Targeted rates (incl 
water) 21%

Fees & Charges 
11%

Subsidies/Grants 
10%

Other revenue 5%
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ANNUAL REPORT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2020 

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS STATEMENT? 

The purpose of this statement is to disclose the Council's planned financial performance in relation to 
various benchmarks to enable the assessment of whether the Council is prudently managing its 
revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, and general financial dealings.  

Council is required to include this statement in its annual report in accordance with the Local 
Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014 (the regulations). Refer to the 
regulations for more information, including definitions of some of the terms used in this statement. 

RATES AFFORDABILITY BENCHMARK 

The Council meets the rates affordability benchmark if: 

 its actual rates income equals or is less than each quantified limit on rates, and

 its actual rates increase equal or are less than each quantified limit on rates increases

The following graph compares the Council's actual rates income with a quantified limit on rates 
contained in the financial strategy included in the Council's Long-Term Plan. 
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RATES (INCREASES) AFFORDABILITY 

The following graph compares the Council's actual rates income with a quantified limit on rates 
contained in the financial strategy included in the Council's Long-Term Plan. The quantified limit is rates 
increases will be no more than 9%. 

DEBT AFFORDABILITY BENCHMARK 

The Council meets the debt affordability benchmark if its actual borrowing is within each quantified limit 
on borrowing. The following graph compares the Council's actual borrowing with a quantified limit on 
borrowing stated in the financial strategy included in Council's Long-Term Plan. 
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BALANCED BUDGET BENCHMARK 

The following graph displays the Council's revenue (excluding development contributions, financial 
contributions, vested assets, gains on derivative financial instruments, and revaluations of property 
plant and equipment) as a proportion of operating expenses (excluding losses on derivative financial 
instruments and revaluations of property, plant and equipment). The Council meets this benchmark if 
its revenue equals or is greater than its operating expenses. 

ESSENTIAL SERVICES BENCHMARK 

The following graph displays the Council's capital expenditure on network services as a proportion of 
depreciation on network services. The Council meets this benchmark if its capital expenditure on 
network services equals or is greater than depreciation on network services. 
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DEBT SERVICING BENCHMARK 

The following graph displays the Council's borrowing costs as a proportion of revenue (excluding 
development contributions, financial contributions, vested assets, gains on derivative financial 
instruments, and revaluations of property, plant and equipment). The Council meets this benchmark if 
its borrowing costs equal or are less than 15% of revenue. 

DEBT CONTROL BENCHMARK 

The following graph displays the Council's actual net debt as a proportion of planned net debt. In this 
statement, net debt means financial liabilities less financial assets (excluding trade and other 
receivables). The Council meets the debt control benchmark if its actual net debt equals or is less than 
its planned net debt. 
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OPERATIONS CONTROL BENCHMARK 

This graph displays the Council's actual net cash flow from operations as a proportion of its planned 
net cash flow from operations. The Council meets the operations control benchmark if its actual net 
cash flow from operations equals or is greater than planned net cash flow from operations. 
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TRANSPORT AND ROADING   |   WAKA ME NGĀ HUARAHI 

This activity helps embrace and deliver growth. The roading activity contributes to economic growth by 
providing efficient, safe and secure transport links for our community and between customers and 
suppliers.  

The transport and roading activity is an important part in the daily lives of our community. It allows 
people to travel to work, school or play by car, bicycle, foot or mobility scooter. It also allows for the 
efficient, reliable and safe transportation of goods and services which is important for our business’s 
prosperity. 

It provides an essential linkage to support growth and productivity through access to markets, 
employment and business hubs. It supports the wellbeing of our residents and visitors to the district by 
providing access to social, health and educational opportunities. 

It is customer fronting by providing efficient, reliable and safe access to reach key destinations and the 
other transport networks available to them. 

Public transport continues to grow and is provided by the Urban Connector. A review of public transport 
across the district and region is underway and will be implemented in 2021. 

WHAT WE DO 

The roading activity includes: 

 Resealing

 Pavement rehabilitation

 Seal widening

 General maintenance

 Seal extension

 Road marking

 Traffic services (Streetlighting and signage)

 Road safety

 Footpaths

 Drainage from roads

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

Highlights of the roading and transport group of activities include: 

 The realignment of a 908m section of Waotu South Road located approximately 2 km from
Wiltsdown Road. The alignment was improved and widened in response to safety concerns at
this location. This was largely attributed to the large proportion of heavy traffic using this section
of road. The project was necessary as the existing road had reached the end of its life and needed
renewal

Growth Resilience Relationships
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 The completion of approximately 12km (155,844 m2) of resurfacing on existing sealed roads to 
improve skid resistance and increase the remaining life of the road. Many incomplete urban chip 
sealing sites needed to be deferred as a result of work being stopped through COVID-19 
lockdown. These will be completed in 2020-21 

 The strengthening and rehabilitation of two sections of pavement on Leslie Road, and Leith 
Place. Together with Waotu South realignment this totalled 2.4km lane. Some advance designs 
of 2020-21 rehabilitation projects were also completed 

 An increased incidence of vehicles striking streetlights occurred during 2019-20. This together 
with some isolated pole renewals made up the street lighting programme of work for 2019-20 

CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Transport and roading 
Actual  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual  
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Formation widening 378 360 466 
Seal widening  53 230 58 
Pavement rehabilitation  923 850 718 
Drainage kerb and channel - 180 168 
Kerb and channel renewals 55 60 43 
Christmas/feature Lighting 26 35 46 
Maintenance chip seals and reseals 688 1,070 1,025 
Traffic services renewals-signs 65 90 75 
Traffic services renewals-street lights 139 105 133 
Minor improvements 274 510 462 
Footpath renewals 26 50 46 
Leith Place 1,505 29 606 
Sundry other - 2 - 
Total 4,132 3,571 3,846 

 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

Reseal:  
No more than 15% of the 
district's sealed transport 
network will exceed its useful 
life. 

Not 
Achieved 

Achieved The percentage of sealed surface by area that 
has exceeded its useful life was 23% in 2018-19. 
This has improved to 3% in 2019-20. Following 
on from the result in 2018/19 staff commissioned 
a study to assess the remaining life of all sealed 
surfaces in the SWDC roading network. This 
was as part of a wider investigation into the 
development of a forward works programme. 
Results from that assessment have been used in 
measuring the KPI for 2019-20. The results 
indicate a large improvement in the KPI, when 
compared with 2018-19 results, which would 
suggest that the remaining useful life in RAMM 
may be incorrect and will require updating to that 
identified in the investigation. How appropriate 
this KPI is will need to be considered for the next 
Long-Term Plan. To make this KPI successful 
would require active and constant management 
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Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

of the design life and expiry date. This is labour 
intensive, and the value of this input would be 
questionable. 

Rehab:  
The smooth travel exposure 
shall be at least 70% of NZTA 
target for roughness. 

Achieved Achieved The smooth travel exposure was measured at 
94% in both 2018-19 and 2019-20. This means 
that 94% of all travel was undertaken on what 
are considered “smooth” roads 

Road Safety:  
There are no fatalities or 
serious injury crashes on the 
local transport network that are 
directly contributable to road 
conditions. 

Achieved Achieved There were no fatalities or serious injury 
accidents that were attributed to road conditions 
in either 2018-19 or 2019-20. 

Capital Footpath Renewals: 
An annual audit of 10% of the 
footpath network will be 
undertaken. 90% of the 
footpath network should have 
a displacement of less than 
15mm. 

Achieved Achieved The annual audit undertaken in June 2019 and 
2020 indicated below 1% of the footpath network 
had a displacement of 15mm or more. The audit 
each year was undertaken on a random sample 
of 10% of the footpath network.  
Results:  
2018-19- 99%. 2019-20 - 99.7% 

Maintenance:   
That Council will respond to 
90% of all urgent service 
requests within 2 working days 
of notice. 

Achieved Achieved Council received seven service requests and 
100% were responded to on time. 

Maintenance:   
That Council will respond to 
90% of all non-urgent service 
requests within 10 working 
days of notice. 

Achieved Achieved Council received 259 non-urgent service 
requests and 234 were responded to on time. 
End result: 90% 
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WATER SUPPLY   |   NGĀ WAI WHAKAWHIWHI 

 
Water supply is an essential contribution to economic growth and increased quality of life.  An inevitable 
consequence of urban growth is an increased demand for water supply. Council will continue to assess 
the need for service extensions to areas of growth. 

Council operates four urban and two rural drinking water supply networks, totalling over 200km of 
pipeline and six treatment plants. Most of the water is taken from underground sources, which are of 
high quality. Some of Putāruru’s water is sourced from the Blue Spring, which is bottled by three water 
bottling companies and sold internationally. 

The Athol water supply is sourced from Oji Fibre Solutions network and connected into the local Council 
supply network. The water supply systems are maintained and operated by Council staff. Capital works 
may be carried out internally or contracted out based on the scale and nature of the work and the 
relative efficiencies obtained by tendering out. The network has an estimated replacement value of 
$65.6m, almost half of which is pipe reticulation ($36m).  

The Tokoroa water supply is sourced by two bores in Elizabeth Park. The water is pumped to the 
reservoir (headworks) on the corner of Billah Street and May Street. The water is treated with chlorine, 
lime (which corrects the PH), fluoride and ultraviolet light before it is pumped up to Colson Hill reservoirs. 
The water from the bore is an average of nine years old.  

The Putāruru water supply is sourced from two locations. Glenshea Park has two bores and this water 
is treated with chlorine, micro filtration and UV disinfection. The other supply is from the Waihou Spring 
(Blue Spring). This water is treated by ultraviolet light and passes through a micro filter and is chlorinated 
prior to being pumped to two reservoirs at Pinedale before it gravitates to town. Tīrau's water is supplied 
from a spring on the banks of the Oraka River. The water is pumped to two reservoirs at the top of 
Fairview Street. It is treated with chlorine and ultraviolet light and passes through a micro filter.  

The Arapuni water supply is sourced from two bores at the southern end of town. It is then pumped into 
two reservoirs in Pioneer Street and is treated with chlorine and ultraviolet light and passes through a 
micro filter. Lichfield water comes from a single bore in Ngātira Road, supplies 18 properties and is 
treated with chlorine, micro filters and ultraviolet treatment. 

WHAT WE DO 

 Supply potable (drinkable) water to the urban areas of Tokoroa, Putāruru, Tīrau, Arapuni 

 Supply potable water to the rural communities of Athol and Lichfield 

 Operate and maintain water treatment plants in Tokoroa, Putāruru, Tirau, Arapuni and Lichfield 

  

Growth Resilience Relationships
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DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

 Putāruru permanent chlorine system was installed at Te Waihou

 Permanent flow meter installed in Tokoroa that help modelling future growth

 Water main renewal contract awarded and construction started. Completion was delayed due to
COVID-19 restrictions

 Renewal of water main and ridermain on Barberton Street

 Audit of Telemetry system and upgrade of servers started

 Putāruru DP Infrastructure Requirements – designs and investigation only were undertaken,
construction to begin in 2020/21 year.

CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Water supply 
Actual 
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget 
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual 
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Health & Safety 18 30 29 
Tokoroa - reticulation replacements 313 360 253 
Tokoroa - capital component of maintenance 24 15 5 
Tokoroa - water plant & equipment replacement 56 34 
Putāruru - reticulation replacements 35 35 130 
Putāruru - capital component of maintenance 3 15 8 
Putāruru - Zone DP change Infrastructure requirements 81 287 - 
Waihou Chlorine Disinfection & Te Waihou Screen 29 - - 
Pinedale Reservoir 45 - - 
Putāruru Drinking Disinfection 3 - 14
Putāruru Water - Design Water Supply Upgrades 4 200 7
Tīrau - capital component of maintenance 6 13 - 
Tīrau - Fairview Development Water Pipe Replacement 75 - 21
Tīrau - Water Plant and Equipment Replacement - 25 
Tīrau - Reticulation replacements - 40 
Arapuni - reticulation renewal 11 28 23 
Total 703 1,082 490 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 Level 
Achieved Comments 

All unsecure water sources, will have 
their water treated as prescribed in 
part 5 of the drinking-water standards 
to treat protozoa. 

Achieved Achieved Council has six water headworks. 
All headworks comply with Part 5 
of the Drinking Water Standards 
by having ultraviolet light. 

At least 97% of tests for E-coli 
(bacteria compliance) carried out on 
treated reticulated water will indicate 
a level of E-Coli in the reticulated 
Council systems of less than one per 
100ml. 

Achieved Achieved 100% compliance was achieved 
during these reporting periods. 
All sampling is reported to the 
Ministry of Health as required by 
the Drinking Water Standards. 

The median response times for call-
outs in response to a fault or 
interruption to the water reticulation 

Achieved Achieved The median response time was as 
follows: 
2018/19 = 45 minutes 
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Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 Level 
Achieved Comments 

system does not exceed one hour of 
notice. 

2019/20 = 47 minutes 
 

The total number of complaints 
received by Council about water 
supply issues (including clarity, taste, 
odour, water pressure/flow and 
continuity of supply) does not exceed 
one complaint per 1000 connections 
to Council's water supply system. 

Achieved Achieved Council received no complaints 
regarding the following during the 
2018/19 and 2019/20 reporting 
periods: 
 Clarity 
 Taste 
 Odour 
 Pressure, flow or supply 

The water loss from Council's 
reticulation network will be no more 
than 20%. 

Achieved Achieved The water loss within the district 
was achieved during the 2018/19 
and 2019/20 reporting periods. 

The average amount of water 
consumed per resident per day is 500 
litres. 

Not Achieved Not Achieved The average amount of water 
used per person per day was as 
follows: 
2018/19 = 450 litres 
2019/20 = 362 litres 
It has been noted that the wording 
of this KPI is incorrect and will be 
corrected for the 2021-2031 LTP 
to ensure that there is a reference 
to “less than 500 litres”. 

Water (Network reliability):  
90% of disruptions to Council’s urban 
water supply network will be 
remedied within twelve hours of 
notice. 

Achieved Achieved The median time to remedy 
supply was as follows: 
2018/19 = 1 hour and 5 minutes 
2019/20 = 31 minutes 
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FUNDING IMPACT STATEMENT – WATER SUPPLY 
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WASTEWATER   |   WAIPARA 

This activity helps embrace and deliver growth and build our resilience for the future. 

Council’s reticulated wastewater collection, treatment and disposal systems serve the four urban areas 
of Tokoroa, Putāruru, Tīrau and Arapuni. 

These four physically separate systems collectively comprise 167.1km of reticulation pipelines in sizes 
from 150mm to 450mm diameter, 18 pump stations, 3,190 manholes, and four treatment plants. 

Pump stations have been installed within the reticulation networks for the purpose of pumping sewerage 
to higher levels to enable it to ultimately gravitate to the treatment plants. 

Operation of the wastewater treatment plants is undertaken by Council wastewater staff with the 
discharge controlled by resource consents issued by the Regional Council. All council treatment plants 
discharge into either the Waikato catchment (Tokoroa and Arapuni) or the Waihou catchment (Putāruru 
and Tirau). New consents have been applied for the discharge from each WWTP. A new consent has 
been issued for the Putāruru WWTP. The Tirau consent has been issued in August 2020.  

WHAT WE DO 

 Operate wastewater networks in Tokoroa, Putāruru, Tīrau and Arapuni

 Collect wastewater from homes and businesses via wastewater pipes and send it to the treatment
plants, either by gravity or pumping

 Treat wastewater to a high quality, then discharge it to water or landfill

 Manage trade waste (industrial/commercial business) discharges

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

Highlights of the wastewater activity include: 

 Tokoroa Treatment Plant Digester – this project has been carried over; it will start once the new
digester is commissioned successfully

 Tokoroa Sludge Upgrade including Digester – Construction has started and completion is
expected in June 2021

 Tokoroa WWTP Equipment Replacement – the majority of replacements identified were
completed; unfortunately the COVID–19 lockdown has delayed some work

 Tīrau Wetlands – this project was delayed due to delays in receiving the final discharge consent,
detailed designs are being finalised with construction beginning this summer

 Putāruru Zone DP Infrastructure Requirements – Investigation and preliminary design work only
undertaken in 2020

 Tīrau WWTP Equipment Replacement – the planned generator replacement was not required;
associated replacements were undertaken; some delays were experienced due to COVID-19
lockdown

Growth Resilience Relationships
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CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Wastewater 
Actual  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual  
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Health & Safety 38 30 38 
Wastewater Design to Support Growth Plan 59 200 - 
Tokoroa - Plant & Equipment Upgrade 62 105 224 
Tokoroa - Sludge Upgrade including Digester & Sludge Thickener 1,199 9,490 39 
Tokoroa WWTP - Telemetry 33 40 - 
Tokoroa WWTP - UV Lamps 36 40 130 
Tokoroa WWTP - Resource consent 74 - 288 
Putāruru WWTP - Plant & equipment upgrade 28 16 78 
Putāruru filter pumps & UV 9 7 5 
Putāruru Zone DP change Infrastructure Requirements 18 115 - 
Putāruru Rangiura Development Wastewater 6 - - 
Tīrau - plant & equipment upgrade 44 92 36 
Tīrau WWTP Membranes 26 30 32 
Kittow St Sewer - - 42 
Wetlands Tīrau 8 826 25 
Total 1,640 10,991 937 

 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

There will be no "Formal 
Enforcement Actions" from the 
consenting authority (Waikato 
Regional Council) in regard to 
Council's compliance with 
resource consent conditions 
relating to wastewater per 
financial year.  

Achieved Not 
Achieved 

A formal warning was received from the 
Regional Council regarding continued non-
compliance at the Tokoroa WWTP for 
exceeding our nitrate limits. The Council is 
in the process of applying for a new 
resource consent for this plant. A number of 
remedial actions have been taken at 
Tokoroa, including construction of new 
digester centrate holding tanks and 
construction of new trade waste facilities to 
better handle concentrated wastes and 
prevent shock loadings on the treatment 
system. Introduction of new caustic dosing 
system for the FAST treatment tanks and 
installation of a new standby generator. 

The total number of complaints 
received by Council about 
wastewater issues (including 
sewage odour, sewerage system 
faults, sewerage system 
blockages and response times to 
issues with its sewerage system) 
does not exceed one complaint 
per 1,000 connections. 
 
 
 

Achieved Achieved Council has not received any complaints 
during the 18/19 or 19/20 reporting period 
regarding the following: 
 Odour 
 Faults 
 Blockages 
 Response times 
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Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

The median time to clear 
blockages or faults to Council's 
wastewater reticulation network 
will not exceed 24 hours from 
notification. 

Achieved Achieved The median time to clear blockages was as 
follows: 
2018/19 = 1 hour and 5 minutes 
2019/20 = 1 hour and 49 minutes 
 

The median response times for 
call-outs in response to a fault or 
interruption to Council's 
wastewater reticulation system 
does not exceed one hour of 
notice. 

Achieved Achieved The median response time was as follows: 
2018/19 = 22 minutes 
2019/20 = 10 minutes 
 

The total number of dry weather 
overflows from the sewerage 
system shall not exceed three per 
1,000 sewerage connections from 
the sewerage system. A dry 
weather overflow is when a 
blockage causes wastewater in 
the reticulated system to spill to 
the environment. 

Not 
Achieved 

Achieved The number of overflows were as follows: 
2018/19 = 22 
2019/20 = 22 
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FUNDING IMPACT STATEMENT – WASTEWATER 
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STORMWATER   |   WAIWĀTEA 

This activity helps embrace and deliver growth and build our resilience for the future. 

Council collects stormwater from roads, homes and business via stormwater pipes which discharge to 
surface water (streams or lakes). 

It is Council’s responsibility to ensure these stormwater pipes and structures are able to cope with the 
amount of stormwater going through them and that the discharge has no environmental effects. 

WHAT WE DO 

 Managing stormwater from the roading network

 Managing stormwater from land (ensuring that there are appropriate systems to deal with
stormwater generated from existing activities happening on the land)

 Ensuring that there are appropriate systems in place to deal with stormwater generated from
future developments

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

 Undertaking stormwater modelling for Tokoroa and Tīrau

 Updating the flood hazard maps for Tokoroa and Tīrau

CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Stormwater 
Actual 
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget 
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual 
Spend 

2019 
$000 

 Tokoroa - Minor New Works Projects 11 11 2 
 State Highway 1 Stormwater & Stormwater Design Plan 802 - 280
 Stormwater Design Plan 92 300 - 
 Putāruru - Minor New Works Projects 18 10 - 
 Putāruru -  Zone DP change Infrastructure Requirements 24 172 - 
 Putāruru -  Rangiura Development 27 - - 
 Tīrau - Minor New Works Projects & Hillcrest Stormwater 31 6 99 
Arapuni - Minor New Works Projects 5 - - 
Total 1,010 499 381 

Growth Resilience Relationships
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 
 

Council will have no more than one per 1,000 
habitable dwellings flooded during a storm event*.           
 *A storm event causes flooding to compliant 
rateable habitable dwellings due to exceeding the 
design capacity of the stormwater system. 

Achieved Achieved During the 2018-19 and 
2019-20 reporting period 
there were no flooded 
buildings due to design 
capacity of the stormwater 
system. 

The total number of complaints received does not 
exceed one complaint per 1,000 connections to 
Council's stormwater system. The total number of 
rateable properties within the stormwater area is 
7686 which allows for a maximum of seven 
properties to be flooded before the KPI is exceeded. 
(KPI stormwater connections will be amended per 
year to account for changes in property numbers in 
the district) 

Achieved Achieved During the 2018-19 and 
2019-20 reporting period 
there were no complaints 
regarding flooded 
buildings due to design 
capacity of the stormwater 
system. 

The median response times for call-outs in response 
to a fault or interruption to Council's stormwater 
reticulation system does not exceed four hours of 
notice during a flood event. A flood event is defined 
as an occasion where buildings that are compliant 
with the Building Code and are serviced by Council's 
reticulated stormwater system experience flooding. 

Achieved Achieved During the 2018-19 and 
2019-20 reporting period 
there were no flood events 
which caused buildings 
under the building code to 
be flooded. 

There will be no "Formal Enforcement Actions" from 
the consenting authority (Waikato Regional Council) 
in regard to Council's compliance with resource 
consent conditions relating to stormwater. 

Achieved 
 

Achieved Council has not received 
any Formal Enforcement 
Actions for WRC during 
the 2018-19 or 2019-20 
reporting period. 
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SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLING  |   HANGARUA ME NGĀ MĀRŌ PARA 

 
This activity helps embrace and deliver growth and build our resilience for the future. 

Council owns one operating landfill in the district, two closed landfills, one transfer station, one recycling 
processing site and five un-manned recycling drop-off facilities.  The resource consent for depositing 
waste at the landfill expires in October 2020 and the landfill cell in operation is expected to be filled at 
about the same time. 

The South Waikato Achievement Trust (SWAT) operates a recycling processing facility under contract 
to Council at 21 Croad Place Tokoroa. The facility also includes a supervised recycling drop-off area 
for the public to use during opening hours. 

There are four unsupervised recycling drop-off points for urban and rural customers which are available 
24/7, and one unsupervised recycling drop-off point located within the Tokoroa landfill site.  

Kerbside collections of rubbish and recycling is undertaken by Envirowaste Limited under a 10 year 
contract. Envirowaste will also operate both transfer stations in Putāruru and Tokoroa once the Tokoroa 
landfill closes. 

WHAT WE DO 

 Operate a landfill near Tokoroa  

 Operate a transfer station near Putāruru  

 Provide recycling 'drop off' centres in Tīrau, Putāruru, Tokoroa, Waotu and Okoroire  

 Contract the operation of a Recycling Centre in Tokoroa  

 Collect household rubbish and recycling from the kerb in urban areas  

 Provide rubbish bins in town centres and in public places  

 Pick up litter that has been dropped in town centres 

 Issue infringement notices to those who dump rubbish in inappropriate places 

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

 Continue working on final closure plan of the Tokoroa landfill 

 Completed designs of new Refuse Transfer Station and commenced construction 

 Awarded new kerbside rubbish and recycling contract to Envirowaste  

 Council decided to move to wheelie bin collections for kerbside rubbish and recycling collections 
implementation to be in July 2021 (New bins to be ordered in January 2021) 

 Decision on undertaking recycling upgrades at Croad place was deferred 
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CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Solid waste and recycling 
Actual 
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget 
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual 
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Tokoroa - Recycling Facility 27 27 13 
Tokoroa - Capital Component of Maintenance - - - 
Tokoroa - Landfill Projects 1,375 2,186 200 
Putāruru - Capital Component of Maintenance 19 5 - 
Putāruru - Weighbridge - - - 
Tīrau - Recycling Station Relocation 7 - - 
District - Recycling containers & Upgrade Works 4 70 
Total 1,432 2,288 213 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

Solid Waste and Recycling:  
90% of enquiries and service requests 
relating to recycling collection are 
responded to within 2 working days of 
notice 

Not 
Achieved 

Achieved Council received 189 service 
requests and 177 service requests 
were responded to on time. End 
result: 93% 

Solid Waste and Recycling:  
90% of enquiries and service requests 
relating to refuse collection are responded 
to within 2 working days of notice. 

Not 
Achieved 

Not 
Achieved 

Council received 74 service 
requests and 55 were responded to 
on time. 
End result: 74.32% 

Solid Waste and Recycling: 
The amount of waste that is recycled must 
not be less than 10% of the residual waste 
sent to landfill. 

Achieved Achieved The waste recycled during 2018/19 
and 2019/20 exceeded 10% of the 
residual waste sent to the landfill. 
This is verified using the monthly 
Ministry of Environment Reporting. 
Result: 19% 

Solid Waste and Recycling:  
There will be no 'Formal Enforcement 
Actions' from the consenting Authority in 
regard to Council's compliance with 
resource consent conditions. 

Achieved Achieved There were no ‘Formal Enforcement 
Actions’ undertaken. 

Solid Waste and Recycling:  
100% of enquiries and service requests 
relating to recycling collection are resolved 
within 3 working days of notice. 

Not 
Achieved 

Achieved 

Solid Waste and Recycling: 
100% of enquiries and service requests 
relating to refuse collection are resolved 
within 3 working days of notice. 

Not 
Achieved 

Achieved 
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PARKS AND RESERVES   |   NGĀ PAPA ME NGĀ RAHUI 

 
This activity helps embrace and deliver growth, and support and maintain quality relationships. 

The Parks and Reserves team oversees the operation, maintenance and development of the district's 
parks, reserves and sportsground areas. The maintenance of these areas is currently let in one 
amalgamated open space maintenance contract, incorporating the Southern Open Spaces Contract, 
Northern Open Spaces and Cemeteries Contract, Sports Parks Contract and the Open Spaces and 
Urban Litter Control Contract. 

The team administer these contracts, undertake auditing, programme work, plan development and 
managing their use. Council provides a contact for users and administers the bookings for each of our 
parks and sportsgrounds. We are also involved in planning for and carrying out capital works as set out 
in the Long-Term Plans and Annual Plans. 

WHAT WE DO 

It is important that these assets are maintained appropriately to prevent disrepair costs, so residents 
have access to parks, reserves and sportsgrounds for recreational and sporting activities.  

 Manage over 240ha of parks, reserves, playgrounds and sportsgrounds 

 Maintain cycleways and walkways 

 Management of cemeteries 

 Management of public toilets 

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

From the 2019-20 plan, we were able to deliver on the following major projects: 

 Replace goal posts at Strathmore Park and Glenshea Park 

 Transfer playground from Grey Street reserve to Barnett Street Reserve 

 Walkway development in reserves  

 Internal road upgrade in reserves 

 Boardwalks on the Te Waihou walkway 

 Berm installation in cemeteries 
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CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Parks and Reserves 
Actual  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual  
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Cemeteries 8 9 10 
Sportsgrounds - Memorial Park 116 - - 
Sportsground - Replacement Sports Equipment 13 41 19 
Skatepark Upgrade 23 10 41 
Reserves - Walkway Development 104 378 289 
Playground Equipment renewals 85 35 2 
Other Parks and Reserves Projects 128 87 553 
Total 477 560 914 

 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

Parks: 90% of non-urgent enquiries 
and service requests relating to parks 
and reserves are responded to within 
ten working days of notice. 

Achieved Achieved Council received 520 non-urgent 
enquiries and service requests, of 
these 492 were responded to on 
time. 
End Result: 95% 

Parks: 90% of urgent enquiries and 
service requests relating to parks and 
reserves are responded to within two 
working days of notice. 

Achieved Achieved Council received 58 urgent 
enquiries and service requests, of 
these 56 were responded to within 
the required time frame. 
End Result: 97% 
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PROPERTY   |   HAUTAONGA 

This activity helps build relationships with our communities through ensuring that the properties that 
Council have are suitable to build our communities wellbeing. 

Council owns and manages a number of properties in the district which include 84 pensioner units, 
seven community halls, the Plaza Theatre and the Bridge Club in Putāruru, Council offices and libraries 
and public toilets as well as vacant and leased land. 

In many cases Council provides these facilities as part of the service to the community such as the 
administration buildings and libraries. 

A number of properties are under Council management due to historical reasons such as pensioner 
housing. Other areas, such as community halls, have come under Council management over the years 
when these have passed from community into Council ownership or management. 

WHAT WE DO 

The Property team manage all properties that are owned by Council including: 

 Library buildings

 Public toilets

 Pools and Sport and Events Centre

 Council office buildings

 Council fleet vehicles

 Community halls

 Pensioner housing

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

This year Council: 

 Outfitted the Tokoroa Council Office with 75 new workstations and associated furniture

 Completed minor renovations within a number of pensioner homes

 Completed the ventilation project in the Council Office in Tokoroa

 Replaced multiple CCTV cameras at the Sport and Events Centre

 Undertook a kitchen upgrade at the Tīrau Depot

 Replaced hall lighting at the Arapuni hall

 Installed a new security system at the Wastewater Treatment Plant

Growth Resilience Relationships



 

ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
  Page 47 of 128 

CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Property 
Actual  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual  
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Council Admin Buildings and Depots 324 139 198 
Community Halls 4 21 59 
Property renewals - Dog Pound Upgrade - 100 388 
Pensioner Housing 42 77 161 
Asbestos Management/Asset Mgmt Assessments - 50 - 
Total 370 386 806 

 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Although just below the 95% target, COVID-19 has had an effect on the results as two units were about 
to be tenanted when lockdown came. One unit was also not available for tenanting due to its condition 
not being up to standard. 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

Public Toilets: 90% of enquiries and 
service requests relating to public 
toilets are responded to within two 
working days of notice. 

Achieved Achieved Council received 81 enquiries.  All 
requests were responded to within the 
required time frame. 
End result: 100% 

Public Toilets: 90% of enquiries and 
service requests relating to public 
toilets are resolved within three 
working days of notice. 

N/A Achieved Council received 81 enquiries.  All 
requests were resolved within the 
required time frame. 
End result: 100% 

Pensioner Housing: The occupancy 
of Council's pensioner housing units 
is at least 95% on an annual basis. 

Achieved Not 
Achieved 

The occupancy of Council’s pensioner 
housing units was 94.46% 
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COMMUNITY FACILITIES   |   NGĀ WĀHI HAPORI 

 
This activity helps embrace and deliver growth and support and maintain quality relationships. 

The South Waikato Sport and Events Centre and the district pools are recreational facilities that are 
managed by Council to provide recreational facilities to encourage residents to be active, to engage the 
community and to improve the image and perception of the district. 

Tokoroa and Putāruru Libraries provide a wide range of professional library services to meet the 
recreational, educational, reading and information needs of the community.  A range of other services 
are also available, including large-print collections, Māori and Pacific Island collections, an audio-visual 
collection and e-books, toy collection, internet and free WIFI, and an inter-library loan service. 

Council also owns The Plaza in Putāruru and maintains the building so that the South Waikato Arts 
Trust are able to provide activities and events for our community. 

WHAT WE DO 

Council manages several facilities on behalf the community to provide residents with access to facilities 
which contribute to their health, social and cultural wellbeing. Council regularly assess the access and 
utility of facilities to ensure that they align with the needs of the community.  

 The South Waikato Sport and Events Centre 

 The South Waikato indoor pools in Tokoroa and outdoor pools in Putāruru and Tīrau 

 Tokoroa and Putāruru Libraries 

 Tīrau i-SITE 

 The South Waikato Performing Arts Centre (The Plaza) 

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

Council planned to do major works on the pools and increase the libraries’ collection and information 
resources. COVID-19 delayed the work on the pools, but the Government’s Infrastructure Fund that 
was a part of the COVID-19 recovery response, provided the opportunity for Council to investigate 
further options that could be provided with additional funding. 

Council submitted an application to the Government’s Infrastructure Fund for both the pools and library 
and are currently doing further research on the details of these high-level submissions. Council 
anticipates that a successful bid will provide a better product and service for our communities. 
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CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Community Facilities 
Actual 
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget 
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual 
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Events Centre - Plant Replacement & Exterior Waterproofing - 24 3 
Libraries 144 159 180 
Pole Installation 40 10 11 
Pools Plant Replacement 52 480 343 
Total 236 673 537 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

South Waikato Sport and Events 
Centre:  South Waikato Sport and Events 
Centre users rate their overall satisfaction level 
at an average of 90% or above annually. 

Achieved Achieved Overall satisfaction for 2019-
2020 was 98% 

South Waikato Sport and Events Centre: 
Annual usage of the South Waikato Sport and 
Events Centre will equate to an average of at 
least twice the district's population. 

Achieved Achieved There were 44,650 visits to the 
SW Events Centre.  This 
equates to an average of 2.0 
visits. 

Swimming Pools: South Waikato pool facility 
users (Tokoroa, Putāruru, Tīrau) rate their 
overall satisfaction level at an average of at 
least 90% or above annually. 

Achieved Not 
Achieved 

Overall satisfaction for 2019-
2020 was 88% 

Swimming Pools:  Annual usage of the South 
Waikato pool facilities will equate to an average 
of at least four times the district's population. 

Achieved Not 
Achieved 

There were 73,102 visits to the 
Swimming Pools, an average of 
3.4 visits. 

Swimming Pools:  At least 90% of South 
Waikato pool water tests (Tokoroa, Putāruru 
and Tīrau) comply with the New Zealand 
Standard Pool Water Quality annually. 

Achieved Achieved 10,259 tests were undertaken at 
the pools in 2019-2020. 98% 
(10,039) of these tests were 
compliant. 

Libraries:   South Waikato Library services 
customers (Tokoroa, Putāruru and Tīrau) rate 
their overall satisfaction level at an average of 
95% or above annually. 

Achieved Achieved Overall satisfaction for 2019-
2020 was 97% 

Libraries: Annual visits to the South Waikato 
library facilities will equate to an average of at 
least 6.5 times the districts population 2019/20. 

Not 
Achieved 

Not 
Achieved 

There were 108,157 visits to the 
SW Events Centre.  This 
equates to an average of 4.9 
visits. 

Libraries:  Ten or more community groups 
engage with the district libraries each month. 

Achieved Achieved The annual target for 
engagement with community 
groups was 120 groups or over. 
221 groups made contact with 
the libraries over the year. 

Libraries: Customer engagement with online 
library services and library promotional 
activities on Council's social media site(s), 
receive a minimum of 1,000 visits/hits per 
month or 12,000 visits/hits annually. 

Achieved Achieved There were 22,758 online 
visits/hits for the year. 
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ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT   |   TE HAPORI WHAKATUPU ME TE PAKIHI 

 
This activity helps embrace and deliver growth, build our resilience for the future and support and 
maintain quality relationships. 

The community and economic development work that Council undertakes is important because it helps 
build community cohesion by encouraging community pride and supporting our community groups. As 
identified in the Council Strategy, encouraging economic development is seen to be a very important 
role for Council so that we can create new jobs for our residents and help to slow the rate of population 
decline. 

WHAT WE DO 

 Facilitate economic development 

 Provide community grants 

 Support youth initiatives 

 Promote our central business districts 

 Organise community events to help foster community pride 

 Promote the district to those who live and work outside the South Waikato 

 Undertake joint ventures with government agencies 

 Support skills training and business development 

 Advocate for (and with) South Waikato communities 

 Advocate to Government 

 Support community groups and help with capacity building 

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

Council was able to deliver on some projects for the community and economic development, but 
COVID-19 also prioritised some of the work that was planned so that Council were able to focus on the 
immediate and medium-term impacts of COVID-19. Below are some of the planned projects that 
Council were able to address.  

 Retention of the i-SITE and customer services in Tīrau 

 Warm homes clean air programme 

 Community events 

 Commencement of the concept plans for Tokoroa, Tīrau and Arapuni 

 Support the delivery of the concept Plans for Tokoroa, Tīrau and Arapuni 

 Continue to work collaboratively with representatives of the SWIF Trust on attracting new 
investment to the district and supporting the growth of existing enterprises  

Growth Resilience Relationships
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CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Economic and community development 
Actual  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual  
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Logistics equipment replacement - - - 
District Branding - signs - 15 7 
Strategic Property Projects 1 300 - 
District Gateway Project - - - 
Total 1 315 7 

 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

Facilitate ten or more events 
per year, with no less than two 
key stakeholders supporting or 
partnering with Council to hold 
each event. 

Achieved Achieved Council held 12 events where there were 
no less than two key stakeholders 
supporting the event.  Events included a 
Matariki Celebration, Community 
Workshop (Energy efficiency), Totara 
Legacy Planting Day, Māori Language 
Week with SWIPIC, Take a kid fishing, 
SWPIC Sport Waikato Passport Challenge, 
Armistice Day, Xmas Parade, Putāruru 
Water Festival, Festival of Cultures, 
Children’s Day. The ANZAC ceremony and 
Neighbourhood series 

Engage with, support or 
facilitate 10 interagency 
collaboration meetings in the 
social, education, health, youth 
and aged care areas annually. 

Achieved Achieved Thirteen meetings were either engaged, 
supported or facilitated. 

90% of the key performance 
indicators within community 
contracts are satisfactorily met 
by individual contract holders 
annually. 

Achieved Achieved 94% community contract KPIs were reliant 
on events happening and this was affected 
by the COVID-19 lockdown. Events such 
as Honouring Volunteers Week and Youth 
Week event and Children’s Day go ahead. 

At least 80% of the customers, 
who engaged with our frontline 
customer services team, 
indicated that they received 
courteous and respectful 
service. 

Achieved Achieved Overall satisfaction was 97% 
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REGULATORY   |   TE TAIAO 

 
These activities meet the Council outcomes in various ways to maintain and enhance a safe community. 

For example, the planning team deliver proposed plan changes and subdivision consents to embrace 
and deliver growth opportunities.   

The building team build resilience for the future by ensuring that consents are managed in accordance 
with the Building Act and Code.  The environmental health and animal control teams work with premises 
and dog owners to minimise risk which improves community resilience.  

Council’s civil defence function and business case management function works with stakeholders 
across multiple disciplines by focussing on building relationships. 

The Regulatory functions continued to meet legislative obligations to ensure a safe environment for our 
community even throughout the COVID-19 lockdown period.   

Highlights included ongoing district plan changes to enable growth and sustainable development, 
regional and national engagement on water quality matters, successful external funding for local 
biodiversity, improving capacity and expertise in the environmental health team and successful building 
consent authority accreditation. 

WHAT WE DO 

 Resource management/Planning guidance, policy, biodiversity enhancement and compliance 

 Building control, guidance, policy and compliance 

 Civil defence  

 Animal control and compliance 

 Sale and Supply of Alcohol licensing 

 Auditing food premises to ensure that they meet the food legislation 

 Environmental health duties 

 Noise control and compliance 

 Parking enforcement 

 Business case management (a programme for businesses wishing to locate in or expand in our 
district to help navigate them through regulatory processes) 

 Bylaw management 
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DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

 Maintain effective noise contract by resolving contract extension from Dec 2019 to August 2020 
– completed, contract extended, new improved Tender closed July 2020 

 Evaluate noise activity, including internal options and combining with security activity by April 
2020, with recommendations for improving effectiveness, endorsed and in place prior to August 
2020 – completed, noise budget increased 

 Complete clearance of IANZ non-compliances by 29 November 2019 to retain Building Consent 
Authority accreditation – completed, praise for team from IANZ 

 Complete notification of Proposed Putāruru Zoning District Plan Change consequential to LTP 
and DC Policy outcomes as agreed – completed, submissions closed 24 June and further 
submissions closed July 

 Together with Raukawa, progress engagement and implementation programme of proposed 
District Plan Change Nga Wahi Tuturu as agreed – completed, community engagement plan 
resolved by Council, ongoing 

 Evaluate the Civil Defence Emergency Management Capability Assessment Report and 
recommend to Council an implementation programme for improvement December 2019 – 
completed and resolved by Council, ongoing 

 Proposed District Plan effectiveness and review programme (including e plan and central and 
regional obligations) – drafted and ongoing 

 Continue engagement on Resource Management Act process for Proposed Regional Plan 
Change, Healthy Rivers Wai Ora through mediation and appeal stage – completed, high level of 
engagement well received, ongoing 

 Complete Proposed Plan Change to restrict services to developers on existing zoned land – 
completed, submissions closed 24 June and further submission closed July 

CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Regulatory 
Actual  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual  
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Replace 13 portable radios 4 4 7 
Explorer 700 BGAN - - 9 
Honda Generator - - 3 
Generator at Events Centre 88 - - 
Civil Defence Trailer Generator - - 3 
New Switching for Generator in Putāruru - 6 - 
Gas Cell Replacement for Detector - 2 - 
Total 92 12 22 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

Animal Control: That the *door to door 
programme be completed by the end of 
November every calendar year. 
*The door-to-door programme is defined as 
follows: dog registration fees are due 
annually by the 31st July; dog owners are 
given further one month to pay the 
registration fee without incurring a penalty 
fee. Animal Compliance Officers are then 
required under the Dog Control Act to sight 
the dog to confirm it is with the owner at the 
same property before enforcing compliance 
either by seizing the dog for being 
unregistered or issuing a fine for failing to 
register. 

Achieved Achieved The door to door programme was 
completed in October, a month 
early. 

Animal Control: 100% of urgent requests 
are attended to within one hour on 24/7 
basis. 

Achieved Achieved There were 158 urgent requests 
received and 100% of these were 
responded to within one hour. 

Planning:  Planning input into Building 
Consent applications is completed within five 
working days of online registration. 

Achieved Achieved Planning input within five working 
days was 100% completion. 417 
of 417 Building Consent 
applications. 

Building Control: Council will retain 
accreditation as a Building Consent 
Authority. 

Achieved Achieved Accreditation retained. 

Building Control: The building team will 
meet with builders and designers at least 
twice per annum. 

Achieved Not 
Achieved 

The building team attended no 
meetings. 

Building Control: At least 95% of building 
consents are processed within statutory 
timelines (20 working days). 

Not 
Achieved 

Achieved Council processed 481 building 
consents, 480 were processed on 
time. 
End result: 99% 

Civil Defence: At least one South Waikato 
District Emergency Operations Centre or 
Managers exercise is held on an annual 
basis. 

Achieved Achieved One managers exercise was held 
in May. 

Civil Defence: More than three training 
sessions/exercises are attended within the 
Waikato Civil Defence Emergency 
Management Group. 

Achieved Achieved Six training sessions were 
attended. 

Civil Defence: Council staff will conduct 20 
or more visits to local organisations to raise 
awareness of civil defence issues. 

Achieved Not 
Achieved 

Council conducted 13 visits. 

Environmental Health:  95% of premises 
registered pursuant to the Health Act 1956 
will be inspected annually. 

Achieved Achieved 43/43 inspections were 
completed. 
End result: 100% 

Environmental Health: 90% of premises 
registered under the Food Act 2014 will be 
verified in accordance with legislative 
requirement.  Please note the Food Act will 
be revoked in 2019 and a new measure will 
be determined at this time. 

Not 
Achieved 

Not 
Achieved 

38/130 verifications were 
completed within the required 
timeframes - this was due to staff 
capacity and workloads. 
End result: 29% 
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Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

Liquor Licencing:  100% of premises that 
hold either on, off or club licences will be 
inspected annually. 

Achieved Achieved 52/52 inspections were 
completed. 
End result: 100% 

Liquor Licencing: Three or more meetings 
per calendar year will be held with the South 
Waikato Liquor Accord group. 

Achieved Not 
Achieved 

2/3 meetings were held – the last 
meeting was scheduled in March 
but had to be cancelled due to 
COVID-19 

Resource management policy and 
monitoring, including environmental 
protection and monitoring:  At least 95% 
of non-notified consents are processed 
within statutory timelines (10, 20 or 40 
working days). 

Not 
Achieved 

Achieved Council processed 91 resource 
consents, 91 (100%) were 
processed on time. 

Resource Management Policy and 
monitoring, including environmental 
protection and monitoring:  Not less than 
80 hours per year is spent on monitoring 
land uses e.g. resource consents, certificates 
of compliance and existing situations. 

Achieved Achieved Council staff spent 87 hours on 
monitoring land use. 

Business Case Management:  90% of all 
potential business development projects that 
require an integrated regulatory approach 
(i.e. Business Case Management) are 
contacted within two working days. 

Achieved Achieved There were 38 cases that required 
an integrated regulatory approach 
and 100% of these were 
contacted within 2 working days. 
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GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE   |   RATONGA RANGAPŪ ME TEWANA 

This activity helps embrace and deliver growth, build resilience for the future and support and maintain 
quality relationships. 

Governance and Corporate looks after all the internal operations of Council including what is required 
for the Councillors and about electoral systems and information management. 

To be able to provide services to our communities, Council needs buildings, vehicles, equipment and 
software to function effectively. Council also needs to ensure the wellbeing of community members and 
staff as they fulfil their functions. The Council developed an Environmental Scan that provides an 
overview of some of the local, regional, national and international factors that have an impact on 
Council’s planning. The Governance and Corporate section integrates information from other sections 
in the Council to develop district wide plans. 

WHAT WE DO 

 Manage the corporate component of Council's business (which includes information services,
legal services, human resources, health and safety, revenue, finance, communications,
executive support and strategic planning and projects, procurement, risk management and
business improvement).

 Organise local government elections

 Support elected members

 Support Council and Tīrau Community Board meetings

 Engage effectively with our communities

 Develop Long Term Plans, Annual Plans and Annual Reports

DELIVERING ON OUR ANNUAL PLAN 2019-20 

Governance and Corporate aims to improve the way Council business is managed. The highlights for 
the group include: 

 Driving better project management through the Project Information Form process associated with
the Long-Term Plan

 Increased levels of community engagement

 Significant investment in upgrading several software packages

 Upgrade of IT infrastructure

 Improving procurement process

 Review and update of the project framework and associated documents

 Review of the risk framework

 Support to the Waste Minimisation Plan

Growth Resilience Relationships
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 Support and advice for various council projects 

 Health and safety improvements 

 Business improvement through process mapping 

CAPITAL PROJECTS 

Governance and Corporate  
Actual  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Budget  
Spend 

2020 
$000 

Actual  
Spend 

2019 
$000 

Property Purchases - - - 
IT Expenditure & GIS Upgrades 219 225 665 
Vehicle Replacements 129 160 33 
Furniture Renewals 1 15 - 
Total 349 400 698 

 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Key Performance Indicators 
2018-19 
Level 
Achieved 

2019-20 
Level 
Achieved 

Comments 

Communications: That 90% of media 
queries are responded to within 2 
working days 
*respond is defined as the initial 
response to the customer, with progress 
on the request 

Achieved Achieved Council received 68 media queries 
and all requests were responded to 
within the required timeframe. 
End result:100% 

Communications: That 90% of media 
queries are resolved within 5 working 
days 

Achieved Achieved Council received 68 media queries 
and all requests were responded to 
within the required timeframe. 
End result:100% 

Communications: That at least 60% of 
media statements submitted, feature in 
local media within 28 days of release 

Achieved Achieved Council submitted 41 media 
statements, 33 featured in local 
media within 28 days of release. 
End result: 80% 

Communications: The level of 
community satisfaction with overall 
communication from Council is at least 
75% satisfied 

Not Achieved Achieved Overall satisfaction for 2019-20 was 
77% 
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FUNDING IMPACT STATEMENT – GOVERNANCE AND CORPORATE 
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CUSTOMER SATISFACTION   |   TE KAIHOKO KI TE KIRITAKI 

INTRODUCTION 

Council employs Key Research Limited to undertake satisfaction reporting four times a year. 

These community satisfaction reports, provide Council with more timely understanding on the 
satisfaction levels of our residents with the services and facilities that Council delivers. 

The 2019-20 report is the fifth annual report survey under this regime. 

SAMPLES SIZES 

The survey was designed to be demographically representative: with a total of 402 respondents, 249 
representatives were from the Tokoroa Ward, 113 were from the Putāruru Ward and 40 respondents 
were from the Tīrau Ward.  

Gender and ethnic diversity were accounted for, with respondents identifying as 49% male and 51% 
female, 69% European, 29% Māori, 6% Pacific, 2% Asian and 4% other ethnicities (this does not add 
up to 100% as respondents are able to choose more than one ethnicity).  

80% of respondents were ratepayers and 78% of all respondents had resided within the district for over 
10 years. 34% of respondents were 19-39 years of age, 43% were aged 40-64 and 23% were 65 years 
and over. 

It is important to capture true satisfaction levels of actual users of specific services. Council has worked 
with researchers to ensure sample numbers for 'activity specific' questions; such as those associated 
with building consent processes, liquor licensing and the utility of facilities.  

The overall satisfaction figures include the categories: somewhat satisfied, satisfied and very satisfied 
and the overall dissatisfaction figures include: very dissatisfied and somewhat dissatisfied. 

OVERALL SATISFACTION 

The overall results are presented below. In previous Annual Reports, Council has compared the results 
from surveys taken over the years. For some of our results, a significant amount of people answered, 
'don't know', for example the Croad Place Recycling Centre, because the facility isn't used by Putāruru 
and Tīrau residents. For this reason, 'don’t knows' are excluded from the data. A number of activities 
have a (UoS) associated, this indicates where Users of Services have been targeted. 

The table below shows: Council Activity, satisfaction rates for financial year June 2017-2018, financial 
year June 2018-2019, financial year June 2019-2020 and the sample numbers or number of people 
who were surveyed for the associated activities. 
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CUSTOMER SATISFACTION RESULTS 

Council Activity 
2018 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2019 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2020 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2020 
Sample 
size 

Overall satisfaction with Council's Water 
Management 

85% 84% 80% 361 

How well the stormwater network is 
maintained 

75% 73% 72% 331 

Ability of stormwater network to keep 
roads and footpaths free from flooding 

71% 71% 68% 377 

Ability of stormwater network to protect 
your property from flooding 

82% 83% 79% 350 

Wastewater system reliability 95% 97% 98% 275 
How Council treats and disposes of 
wastewater 

94% 96% 94% 186 

Odour of the water 84% 88% 86% 314 
Reliability of the water supply 98% 95% 96% 324 
Taste of the water 83% 84% 81% 318 
Clarity of the water 84% 88% 86% 314 
Pressure of the water 90% 90% 87% 321 
Overall satisfaction with Councils Waste 
Management 

82% 85% 81% 368 

Putāruru, Tīrau, Waotu and Okoroire 
recycling points 

82% 82% 79% 156 

The Croad Place Recycling Centre 93% 87% 87% 169 
Management of loose litter and bins in 
and around the town 

76% 78% 79% 370 

The services for managing general 
waste 

85% 82% 77% 316 

Kerbside recycling services 84% 85% 78% 310 
The services for managing green waste 84% 74% 76% 214 
Kerbside rubbish collection 94% 93% 88% 271 
Overall satisfaction with Councils Road 
and footpaths 

75% 77% 71% 386 

Provision of dedicated walkways/other 
cycleways around the South Waikato 

82% 79% 74% 344 

How well the urban roads are maintained 73% 76% 71% 395 
Availability of footpaths/crossing points 
for mobility scooters/wheel chairs 

79% 76% 70% 316 

Adequacy of cycleways on our roads 43% 54% 43% 305 
How well footpaths are maintained 76% 75% 71% 367 
The safety of roads 76% 72% 70% 390 
How well rural roads are maintained 66% 66% 65% 366 
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Council Activity 
2018 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2019 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2020 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2020 
Sample 
size 

Overall satisfaction with Councils Parks, 
Reserves and Open Spaces 

91% 93% 93% 354 

Satisfaction with other parks and 
reserves 

92% 92% 91% 345 

Satisfaction with playgrounds 93% 93% 91% 275 
Satisfaction with cemeteries 93% 96% 92% 251 
Satisfaction with sports grounds 93% 95% 92% 301 
Overall Satisfaction with Councils Public 
Facilities 

91% 94% 90% 344 

Satisfaction with swimming pools (UoS) 94% 93% 88% 170 
Satisfaction with public toilets (UoS) 62% 69% 64% 183 
Satisfaction with South Waikato Sport 
and Events Centre (UoS) 

96% 98% 98% 203 

Satisfaction with community halls (UoS) 91% 91% 94% 103 
Satisfaction with libraries (UoS) 97% 96% 97% 219 
Library opening hours (UoS) 96% 96% 95% 219 
Range of books and materials available 
at the libraries (UoS) 

94% 97% 97% 219 

The library charges (UoS) 94% 90% 95% 219 
The overall service delivered by the 
library (UoS) 

99% 98% 97% 219 

The way that the libraries connect with 
local groups (UoS) 

93% 95% 96% 219 

Overall Satisfaction with Councils Rates 
and Values (Value for money) 

77% 75% 69% 344 

Rates being fair and reasonable 71% 64% 59% 316 
Fees for other services (like pool entry 
fees, dog registration fee, taking out a 
library book) being fair and reasonable 

82% 82% 79% 306 

The ease of making payments 94% 93% 92% 316 
Overall Satisfaction with Councils 
Regulatory Services 

86% 83% 80% 241 

Satisfaction with animal control (UoS) 78% 81% 83% 84 
Satisfaction with managing and issuing 
building consents (UoS) 

80% 68% 69% 30 

Satisfaction with managing and issuing 
resource consents (UoS) 

71% 67% 56% 14 

Satisfaction with managing liquor 
licensing (UoS) 

66% 70% 81% 13 

Satisfaction with licensing premises such 
as cafes, restaurants and hairdressers 
(UoS) 

63% 78% 61% 8 
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Council Activity 
2018 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2019 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2020 
Satisfaction 
Level 

2020 
Sample 
size 

Overall Satisfaction with Councils 
Communication 

80% 74% 77% 377 

Participation in decision making 69% 69% 68% 335 
Overall Satisfaction with Councils 
Reputation 

80% 78% 77% 379 

Quality of services and facilities 84% 78% 76% 389 
Leadership 79% 75% 74% 375 
Trust 72% 67% 71% 380 
Financial Management 68% 59% 62% 325 
Satisfaction with making a complaint or a request for service 
How easy it was to make your enquiry or 
requests (UoS) 

79% 83% 84% 148 

How long it took to resolve the matter 
(UoS) 

51% 50% 53% 148 

The information provided being accurate 
(UoS) 

71% 71% 65% 148 

How well Council staff understood your 
request and how well they 
communicated with you (UoS) 

67% 76% 73% 148 

The resolution or outcome achieved 
(UoS) 

56% 55% 55% 148 

How would you rate Council overall for 
how well they handled your enquiry 
(UoS) 

56% 60% 65% 148 
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WLASS REPORT   |   TE PŪRONGORONGO O WLASS 

INVOLVEMENT WITH COUNCIL CONTROLLED ORGANISATIONS (CCOs) 

A CCO is a company with a majority Council shareholding, or a trust or similar organisation with a 
majority of Council-controlled votes or Council-appointed trustees. Council is involved in one regional 
CCO called Local Authority Shared Services (LASS) Limited. 

The company was established in 2005-06 and is a legal entity to help foster and develop shared service 
initiatives throughout the region. 

The LASS is jointly owned by the local authorities of the region: Waikato Regional Council, Hamilton 
City Council, Hauraki, Matamata-Piako, Otorohanga, Rotorua, South Waikato, Taupo, Thames-
Coromandel, Waikato, Waipa and Waitomo District Councils. 

COMPANY OBJECTIVE 

The objective of LASS is to provide local authorities of the Waikato Region with a vehicle to procure 
shared services. The LASS also provides Councils that wish to develop new services with a corporate 
structure under which they can develop and promote services to other local authorities. 

The constitution of LASS sets out the principles of which the company will be operated and governed. 
This includes shareholders’ rights and the appointment of directors. The company’s Annual Statement 
of Intent identifies its activities, intentions for the year and the objectives to which those activities will 
contribute. 

NATURE AND SCOPE OF ACTIVITIES 

The principal nature and scope of the activity for the company is to: 

 Provide shared services to all local authorities within the Waikato region. The company also
intends to sell processes and systems as set up under individual agreements to local authorities
outside the region.

 Pursue all opportunities to develop shared services that may benefit the community, either
through enhanced services or reduced costs.

 Give consideration to developing shared service products which a majority of local authorities of
the region believe are of value. The objective is to provide the most effective access to regional
information that may be of value to the community using modern technology and processes.

 Explore all possible avenues to provide these services itself, or contract them from outside
parties, each depending on a rigorous business case.

Council policies and objectives relating to CCOs 

South Waikato District Council’s policy on appointment of directors to CCOs states that, where Council 
is but one of a group of councils jointly controlling a CCO, then Council shall provide representatives 
(as appropriate) to consider the appointment and remuneration. 

LASS is governed by a board of directors made up of the chief executives of the local authority 
shareholders. Council’s involvement in LASS is consistent with its Appointment of Directors to CCO’s 
Policy. Council’s involvement in LASS was confirmed, following public consultation through its Annual 
Plan 2005-06. 

Council at present has no formal objectives other than to maintain its current shareholding. 
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PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

The following performance measures were included in the Statement of Intent for the 2019/20 financial 
year.  

Key: 

 Achieved or on track: has been completed or will be by 30 June 2020 

 Currently behind schedule but target expected to be met by 30 June 2020 

 Currently behind schedule and target unlikely to be met by 30 June 2020 

 

Target Measure Outcome  
Procurement 
Joint procurement initiatives 
for goods and services for 
WLASS councils will be 
investigated and implemented. 
 
Method: Procurement is from 
sources offering best value, 
service, continuity of supply, 
and/or opportunities for 
integration. 
 
 

 
New suppliers are awarded 
contracts through a 
competitive tender process. 
 

 

 
Achieved: Supply contracts 
are tendered in line with 
WLASS procurement policy 
(which in turn is consistent 
with the regional procurement 
framework developed last 
year). For substantial contracts 
(e.g. LiDAR, insurance and 
risk management services, 
Professional Services Panel), 
a public tender process has 
been undertaken. Other 
contracts have been 
renegotiated with existing 
suppliers where it is 
appropriate to do so. 
 

 

Professional Services Panel 
contracts are successfully 
negotiated. 

Achieved: Contracts have 
been negotiated on time with 
the panel in place from 1 
August 2019, as planned. 

Collaborative Projects 
Priorities for collaboration are 
identified, business cases are 
developed for the highest 
priority projects, and the 
projects are implemented. 
 
Method: 
The focus is on shared 
services which will benefit all 
councils. 
 
 
 

 
A minimum of six priority 
projects for collaboration are 
identified per annum. 
 
 
 

 
Achieved: A new Professional 
Services Panel was 
established from 1 August 
2019 with eight councils 
participating (previously four). 
Five priority projects to 
develop opportunities were 
approved by the Board in 
November and development of 
the opportunities commenced 
prior to year-end.  
The legal services group is 
also in early deliberations on a 
joint procurement for a tool to 
support legislative compliance. 
The Coordinated Infrastructure 
Procurement project was 
approved by the Board and 
recommendations from that 
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Target Measure Outcome  
project made to the Board in 
June. 
The business case to expand 
RATA into waters asset 
management services was 
approved by the Board in July 
last year. The Waters Lead 
Manager has since been 
appointed. 
The business case for Waikato 
OneView was approved by the 
Board in November last year. 
Due to capacity constraints the 
Board agreed to defer 
commencing the project until 
July 2020. 

If considered of value, 
business cases are developed 
for approval by the Board, and 
the projects are implemented. 

Achieved: The development 
of any opportunity is subject to 
a phased approach involving 
discovery (validating why we 
would investigate the 
opportunity, or the problem 
being solved), opportunity 
assessment (a light business 
case), and business case (if 
required). The Board approves 
each phase before 
progression to the next stage. 
 

Savings to Councils identified 
in developed business cases 
exceeds $300k. 

Achieved: Business cases or 
opportunity assessments 
delivered during the period 
related to: 
 RATA – Waters 

collaboration: 
Benefits are not quantified 
but based on investment 
objectives they are 
considered substantial 

 Waikato OneView: From 
surveys undertaken, users 
of OneView estimate that it 
will save them time, 
conservatively estimated at 
~$500k p.a. – which should 
translate to reduced fees to 
councils. In addition, it is 
estimated that there will be 
software savings of ~$20k 
p.a. and council staff time 
would reduce because 
users will be better 
equipped to ‘self-serve’ 

 Coordinated Infrastructure 
procurement: The case 
notes that if 0.5% of 
infrastructure spend is 



 

ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
  Page 70 of 128 

Target Measure Outcome  
achieved from the project 
outcomes sought, that will 
represent a saving of 
~$1m+ p.a. 

 Building Consent Shared 
Services: The discovery 
report presented to the 
Board in May 2020, 
estimates savings (in time 
and cost) of $1.75m p.a. 
 

Existing WLASS Contracts 
Existing contracts are 
managed and renegotiated as 
required. 
 
Method: Appointed vendors 
deliver on the terms of their 
contracts and deliver value to 
the shareholders. 
 
 
 

 
The WLASS Contracts 
Register is maintained and 
managed. 
 

 
Achieved 
 

 

Contracts which are due for 
renewal are either 
renegotiated (where it makes 
commercial sense to continue 
with the current supplier) or re-
tendered through a 
competitive process. 

Achieved: Supply contracts 
are tendered in line with 
WLASS procurement policy 
(which in turn is consistent 
with the regional procurement 
framework developed last 
year. For substantial contracts 
(e.g. LiDAR) a public tender 
process has been undertaken. 
Other contracts have been 
renegotiated with existing 
suppliers where it is 
appropriate to do so. 
 

Cost Control 
Administration expenditure 
shall be managed and 
monitored. 
 
Method: The Financial 
Accountant and Chief 
Executive review expenditure 
monthly. 
 
 
 

 
Administration expenditure 
shall not exceed budget by 
more than 5%, unless prior 
approval is obtained from the 
Board. 

 
Achieved: Company 
administration costs exceed 
the 2020 budget by ~8% 
($47k). This excess is being 
met by funds available from 
the prior year. It principally 
reflects:  
 recruitment fees relating to 

the Board Chair (originally 
budgeted for in FY19) and 
the Executive Assistant 
(EA); 

 salaries associated with 
increasing the EA role to a 
full-time position; and 

 professional fees to 
progress the digital 
strategy. 

Each of the above has been 
approved by the board. 

 

Reporting 
Six monthly reports provided 
to Shareholders. 
 
Method: The Chief Executive 
prepares a written report for 

 
The Board shall provide a 
written report on the business 
operations and financial 
position of WLASS to the 
shareholders every six 
months.  

 
Achieved The 2019 Annual 
report was prepared and 
provided to shareholders in 
September 2019. The Half-
yearly report was delivered in 
February 2020. 
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Target Measure Outcome  
the WLASS Board every 
meeting. 
 
A Half-yearly and Annual 
Report are prepared for 
shareholders. 

Every second report shall be 
the Annual Report. 

 

SVDS 
The SVDS is reliable, well 
maintained and available to all 
users. 
 
Method: A Contract Manager 
is appointed for SVDS. 
 
The Contract Manager 
monitors performance of the 
contractors and reports 
quarterly to the SVDS 
Advisory Group. 
 
Risks associated with the 
SVDS are well managed. 

 
The SVDS is available to 
users at least 99% of normal 
working hours. 
 

  
Achieved: the SVDS has 
been available 99.95% for 
users during normal business 
hours.  
 

 

The SVDS Advisory Group 
meets at least 6-monthly. 
 

Achieved: Four meetings held 
in August, November, March & 
June 

The Annual Business Plan is 
accepted by the Advisory 
Group by 31 March 2020. 
 

Achieved: Accepted by the 
Advisory Group on 5 March 
 
 
 

Insurance 
Achieve the relevant KPIs in 
Appendix 4 of the Insurance 
Brokerage contract with Aon. 
 
Method: The Insurance Broker 
delivers on the terms of their 
contract and provides value to 
the participating councils. 
 
 

 
Strategic advice provided by 
Aon on the insurance 
programme structure is 
assessed as satisfactory in the 
annual WLASS Shareholders’ 
survey by the participating 
councils. 
 

 
Not measured: Formal 
feedback from shareholders by 
way of annual survey is not 
being undertaken this year and 
therefore we are unable to 
measure performance against 
this measure. WLASS notes 
however that the collaborative 
insurance programme 
continues to deliver significant 
benefit to councils. Premium 
savings are estimated at $1m- 
$1.5m per annum. During the 
year, insurance and risk 
management services 
retendered with Aon re-
appointed as the successful 
participant. 
The 2020 SOI sets out a new 
performance framework for the 
company which puts in place 
performance measures that 
better reflect the outcomes we 
are seeking. For that reason, 
we are not intending on 
undertaking a survey of 
shareholders this year as we 
have historically done. We will 
instead be meeting with 
council CEs on a 1x1 basis 
and soliciting feedback on 
performance by this means. 
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Target Measure Outcome  
The day-to-day service 
provided by Aon is assessed 
as satisfactory in the annual 
WLASS Shareholders’ survey 
by the participating councils. 

Not measured: Refer 
comment above. 

Roading Asset Technical 
Accord (RATA) 
Deliver better data for decision 
making across the Waikato 
Region, enabling more 
consistent best practice 
 
Method: Quarterly update 
reports are provided to all 
stakeholders participating in 
the Data Collection contracts. 
 
Data supplied by contractors is 
of good quality and meets all 
of the participating councils’ 
requirements. 
 
 

 
Reports are presented to 
stakeholders in 
October/January/ April and 
July each year. 
 

 
Achieved: All reports supplied 
to stakeholders. Improved 
reporting through Power BI 
was successfully trialled. 

 

Reports on progress 
presented to WLASS Board as 
at 30 December and 30 June. 
 
 

Achieved: Reports to WLASS 
Board presented to required 
deadlines. 

All data are reviewed for 
compliance and all good 
practice requirements are met. 

Achieved: All data received 
was reviewed for quality 
requirements and approved.   
 

Procurement of services 
complies with WLASS and 
NZTA’s procurement 
requirements. 

Achieved: Procurement of 
services is in line with WLASS 
procurement policy and NZTA 
requirements. 

Lead engagement and 
increase capability within the 
sector 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Method:  
Innovation: Identify 
opportunities to modify 
standard approaches and/or 
develop new approaches that 
will lead to optimal asset 
management. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Present to a national 
conference on RATA 
innovations at least once per 
year. 

Not achieved: RATA 
presented the Waters 
Collaboration business case to 
the Mayoral Forum in August 
2019. 
However, conferences were 
delayed due to COVID-19.  An 
application to the WaterNZ 
conference has been 
submitted for a poster 
presentation in August 2020. 
 

At least two RATA guidance 
documents detailing good 
practice are produced each 
year. 

Achieved:  Issues and 
Options report prepared for 
Traffic management 
Coordinators investigating 
operational improvements.   
Stock Underpass business 
case investigated 
improvements for 
management of the assets 
across the region. 
RATA is supporting Waters 
Collaboration investigation 
work for seven participating 
councils. This is ongoing. 
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Target Measure Outcome 

Leadership: Lead engagement 
and increase capability within 
the sector. 

RATA Forums are held 2-
monthly to share learnings and 
experience. 

Not achieved: RATA forums 
were significantly disrupted 
during the financial year with 
the departure of the previous 
RATA Manager and the 
COVID-19 lockdown.  These 
have now recommenced. 

Waikato Regional Transport 
Model (WRTM) 
The WRTM is reliable, well 
maintained and available to all 
users. 

Method: RATA manages the 
WRTM on behalf of the 
participating councils, and 
monitors the performance of 
the model supplier (currently 
Traffic Design Group). 

RATA reports quarterly to the 
WRTM Project Advisory 
Group. 

All modelling reports 
requested from the model 
supplier are actioned within 
the agreed timeframe, scope 
and budget 

On track:  Stantec continues 
to provide Service 
Reports.  Ad hoc reporting is 
provided as requested. 

A report from RATA on any 
new developments and on the 
status of the model is provided 
to the WLASS Board at least 
every six months. 

Achieved: Report for the six 
months to 30 June 2020 is 
being prepared. The report to 
31 December 2019 was 
presented to the board 
meeting in February 2020.  

The quality of the base model 
complies with NZTA guidelines 
(as set out in the NZTA’s 
Economic Evaluation Manual), 
and is independently peer 
reviewed each time the model 
is updated. 

Achieved Model complies with 
guidelines but there are issues 
with modelling accuracy in 
some areas. Development of 
business case is underway to 
consider upgrading the model. 
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Target Measure Outcome  
Waikato Building Consent 
Group 
Provide strategic direction and 
actively pursue improvements 
in Building Control across the 
Waikato region. 
 
 
 
 
Method: 
Implement the strategic 
priorities detailed in the “Build 
Waikato” May 2017 strategic 
review document. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Milestones for the five 
strategic review work streams 
are achieved for: 
 Digital experience and 

technology: a common 
online customer experience.  
Success is defined as user 
friendly, convenient, quick, 
end-to end management 
and communication, 
measured by customer 
surveys and systems 
comparisons. 

The activity of the Waikato 
Building Consent Group has 
been heavily impacted 
throughout the year by a lack 
or resource (refer commentary 
under “Key Achievements” 
section above) and more 
recently, the WLASS Building 
Consent Shared Services 
(BCSS) project.  
 
On track: Thames-
Coromandel, Waipa and 
Waitomo DCs have 
successfully implemented the 
preferred online Alpha One 
System. Matamata-Piako DC 
is transitioning to Alpha One in 
July 2020 and Hauraki DC in 
September 2020. 
Hamilton CC and Waikato DC 
will initiate a transition plan for 
implementation in the 2021/22 
financial year. Otorohanga DC 
are not planning on changing 
to Alpha One.   
 
The Build Waikato website 
redesign has been put on hold 
until a clear direction from the 
BCSS project is reached. This 
decision was made to avoid 
costs being incurred on the 
redesign which may quickly 
become redundant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  People capability.  Success 
is defined as a successful 
recruitment and training 
programme, measured by 
compliance with BCA Reg. 8 
-11. 

 

On track: WLASS has 
completed discovery work on a 
collaborative cadet 
programme. Discovery has 
highlighted that the immediate 
benefits of such a scheme are 
minimal until the BCSS project 
outcomes are clear. Councils 
agreed that the post-COVID 
environment has produced a 
level of uncertainty in the next 
financial year as to building 
consent numbers which may 
impact on the success of any 
programme. Such a 
programme is being 
considered as part of the 
BCSS project.  
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Target Measure Outcome  
  Quality assurance.  Success 

is defined as continued 
accreditation and increased 
service consistency, 
measured by accreditation 
outcomes, BCA annual 
audits, and customer 
surveys. 

 

On track: There have been 
successful IANZ audits with 
good feedback on the cluster 
QA overall. A new Quality 
Assurance Coordinator has 
been appointed and work will 
commence in the next twelve 
months on the quality manual 
and internal audit regime. 
 

  Lift industry competency 
and compliance.  Success is 
measured by increased 
industry compliance, with 
reduced RFIs, and reducing 
percentages of application 
or building consent 
rejection. 

 

Partially achieved: This is an 
area requiring continuous 
improvement. The Technical 
Committee is continuing to 
work on consistency across 
councils on RFI’s to improve 
the customer experience. The 
BCSS project also has this 
work in scope.  
 

  Central government: 
engagement and legislative 
influence.  Success is 
measured by legislative 
submissions and outcomes. 
 

On track: Submissions are 
made when appropriate. 
Importantly, engagement with 
Central Government (MBIE) 
has been targeted and is 
improving. 
 

Method:  
Fulfil the roles and 
responsibilities set out in 
clause 9 of the WBCG’s 
Memorandum of 
Understanding, 2016. 
 

There is a common 
understanding and buy-in by 
all BCAs for the WBCG vision 
and actions that are taken to 
achieve this vision, measured 
by:  
 Full participation in WBCG 

projects and programmes  
 

Achieved: Good participation 
of all in projects when required 
but an area where we strive for 
continuous improvement. 
 
  

 Audits demonstrating 
implementation and 
compliance with the agreed 
QA systems  

 

Achieved: Audits are 
demonstrating compliance with 
QA systems. 
 

 Consistency in service 
delivery, measured by 
customer surveys 

 

Not measured: No customer 
survey was undertaken this 
year. However, customers 
were engaged as part of the 
discovery phase of the BCSS 
project, which reinforced that 
consistency could be 
improved. Customers are 
being engaged via a 
stakeholder reference group 
as part of that project which 
has improving “customer 
experience” as a critical 
success factor. 
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Target Measure Outcome 
Risk management is visible 
through regular reviews of the 
Risk Register. 

On track: Risk register 
implemented and reported on 
quarterly to Advisory Group 

All funding requirements are 
met by each of the 
participating councils. 

On track: All funding 
commitments met. 

Minimum of two reports 
presented to the WLASS 
Board on the Group’s 
activities. 

Achieved: Reporting on 
performance measures 
received and presented to 
board as part of the annual 
report. In addition, the 
Advisory Group Chair has 
provided the Board with verbal 
updates on progress recruiting 
a new group manager (which 
has now occurred). 
Monthly reporting to the 
WLASS CE on delivery of the 
annual workplan, a summary 
of which is included in the 
monthly portfolio reporting to 
board. 

Future Proof 
Planning for growth in the sub-
region is co-ordinated and 
collaborative. 

Method:  
Joint preparation and input into 
Phase 2 of the Strategy 
update 

Phase 2 of the Future Proof 
Strategy is adopted by the 
Future Proof Implementation 
Committee no later than 
December 2020. 

Not achieved: Phase 2 of the 
Future Proof Strategy update 
has been on hold to allow 
other projects to sufficiently 
progress, including the H2A. 
Work has commenced again 
on Phase 2. It is anticipated 
that a draft will be completed 
early 2021. 

The Future Proof budget is 
well managed and monitored. 

Method: 
Bi-monthly reports presented 
to the Future Proof Chief 
Executives Advisory Group, 
and six monthly and annual 
reports to the WLASS Board. 

The overall Future Proof work 
programme is delivered within 
the approved budget. 

Achieved: the Future Proof 
work programme to end June 
2020 was on budget; however 
several line items were 
significantly over budget due 
to high activity associated with 
the H2A. This was balanced 
by unspent items. Government 
funding for the Sub-Regional 
Three Waters Study has not 
yet been successful.  

Future Proof influences and 
inputs into District Plan, 
Regional Plan, growth strategy 
and any other planning 
processes which manage 
growth within the sub-region 
and neighbouring regions. 

Method: 

Future Proof makes 
submissions (using RMA and 
Local Government processes), 
on District Plans, LTPs, growth 
management planning 
documents, and any central 
government initiatives which 
have the potential to impact 
growth management planning 
in the sub-region. 

Achieved: Future Proof has 
lodged 11 submissions over 
the past 12 months   
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Target Measure Outcome 
Future Proof works 
collaboratively and provides 
input into the planning work 
undertaken by all FP partners 
and any other relevant 
planning authorities. 

Shareholder Survey 
Shareholders are satisfied with 
the performance of WLASS. 

Method: 
An annual survey of 
shareholders is undertaken to 
assess satisfaction levels with 
WLASS. 

A survey of shareholders is 
undertaken each year, and the 
results are reported to all 
shareholders. 

Not achieved: The 2020 SOI 
sets out a new performance 
framework for the company 
which puts in place 
performance measures that 
better reflect the outcomes we 
are seeking. For that reason, 
we are not intending on 
undertaking a survey of 
shareholders this year as we 
have historically done. We will 
instead be meeting with 
council CEs on a 1x1 basis 
and soliciting feedback on 
performance by this means. 

Review of Benefits 
Shareholders are informed of 
the benefits being provided to 
shareholding councils by 
WLASS. 

Method: 
The benefits of WLASS 
(including financial and non-
financial achievements) are 
regularly analysed and 
reported to shareholders. 

Information on the financial 
and non-financial benefits 
being achieved by WLASS are 
included in the 6-monthly and 
Annual Report to 
shareholders. 

Achieved: WLASS 
achievements are included in 
the half-yearly report and in 
the 2019 Annual Report. 

The WLASS website is 
regularly maintained and 
updated. 

Not achieved: Some, but not 
all areas of the website have 
been updated. This remains a 
work in progress. We are also 
working on enhancing the 
WLASS website to include 
additional information for 
councils on what the company 
is doing. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   |   NGĀ MŌHIOHIO PŪTEA 

 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

The Council of the South Waikato District hereby confirms that all statutory requirements in relation to 
the annual report, as outlined in the Local Government Act 2002, have been complied with. 

 

  
Jenny Shattock QSM JP Ben Smit 

MAYOR CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

22 October 2020 22 October 2020 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on pages 
84 to 128. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 

 

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on pages 
84 to 128. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

 

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on pages 
84 to 128. 
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS 

 

 

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on pages 
84 to 128. 
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FUNDING IMPACT STATEMENT – WHOLE OF COUNCIL 

 

 

The Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the accounting policies and notes on pages 
84 to 128. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Reporting entity  

The South Waikato District Council (Council) is a territorial authority governed by the Local Government 
Act 2002 and is domiciled in New Zealand.  

The primary objective of Council is to provide services and social benefits to the community rather than 
making a financial return. Accordingly, Council has designated itself as a public benefit entity for the 
purposes of financial reporting. The financial statements of the Council are for the year ended 30 June 
2020. The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Councillors on 6 October 2020.  

Basis of preparation  

Statement of compliance  

The financial statements of the Council have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Local Government Act 2002, which include the requirement to comply with New Zealand Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (NZ GAAP).  

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP and they comply with Tier 
1 Public Benefit Entity (PBE) Standards.  

Measurement base  

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, modified by the revaluations of 
land and buildings, certain infrastructural assets, and certain financial instruments (including derivative 
instruments).  

Functional and presentation currency  

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($000). The functional currency of the Council is New Zealand dollars.  

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently for all periods presented in these 
financial statements.  

Changes in accounting policies 

There have been no changes in accounting policies.  

Standard, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective 

The following table shows the major new accounting standards, interpretations and amendments that 
are relevant to Council that have not yet been adopted.  

Major new standard, interpretation or 
amendment 

Effective Date (periods beginning on or 
after) 

PBE IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2021 
PBE FRS 48 Service Performance Reporting 1 January 2021 

 

Significant accounting policies 

Revenue 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Council 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
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received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods or services in the normal course 
of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes. The following specific recognition criteria must 
also be met before revenue is recognised. 

Rates 

Rates are set annually by a resolution from Council and relate to a financial year. All ratepayers are 
invoiced within the financial year to which the rates have been set. Rates revenue is recognised when 
payable. Rates charged to Council properties are excluded from rates income in the profit or loss. 

Revenue from water rates by meter is recognised on an accrual basis. Unbilled usage, as a result of 
unread meters at year end, is accrued on an average usage basis. 

Government grants 

Government grants are recognised when: 

 claimed, for work completed on previously approved programmes

 eligibility has been established by the grantor.

Council receives government grants from the New Zealand Transport Agency, which subsidises part of 
the costs of maintaining the local roading infrastructure. These subsidies are recognised upon 
entitlement, as conditions pertaining to eligible expenditure have been fulfilled. 

Provision of services 

Revenue from the provision of services (fees and charges) are recognised as income when the 
obligation to pay, by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at balance date, arises. 

Interest and dividends 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial instrument. 

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment has been established. 

Vested assets 

Where a physical asset is acquired for nil or nominal consideration, the fair value of the asset received 
is recognised as income. Assets vested in the Council are recognised as income when control over the 
asset is obtained. 

Financial contributions borrowing costs 

Financial contributions are recognised as revenue when the Council provides, or is able to provide, the 
services for which the contribution was charged. Otherwise, the financial contributions are recognised 
as liabilities until such time as the Council provides, or is able to provide, the service. 

All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Grant expenditure 

Non-discretionary grants are those grants that are awarded if the grant application meets the specified 
criteria and are recognised as expenditure when an application that meets the specified criteria for the 
grant has been received. 

Discretionary grants are those grants where the Council has no obligation to award on receipt of the 
grant application and are recognised as expenditure when approved by the Council and the approval 
has been communicated to the applicant. 
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Cost allocation policy 

Direct costs are charged directly to significant activities. Indirect costs are charged to significant 
activities based on cost drivers and related activity/usage information. Direct costs are those costs 
directly attributable to a specific activity. Indirect costs are those costs that cannot be identified in an 
economically feasible manner with a specific significant activity. 

Cost drivers for allocation of indirect costs 

The cost of internal services not directly charged to activities is allocated as support costs using 
appropriate cost drivers such as actual usage, staff numbers and floor area. 

Current assets held for sale 

Current assets are classified as held for sale if the carrying amount will be recovered through a sale 
rather than continuing use. This condition is met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is 
available for sale in its present condition. Council must be committed to the sale, and a completed sale 
is expected within one year from the date of classification. Current assets classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of the asset’s carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

Any impairment losses for write-downs of non-current assets held for sale are recognised in profit or 
loss. 

Any increase in fair value, less costs to sell, are recognised in profit or loss up to the level of any 
impairment losses that have been previously recognised. 

Current assets held for sale are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

Operational assets 

These are tangible assets and include land, buildings and improvements, motor vehicles, the South 
Waikato Indoor Pools and associated equipment, and the library collection. 

Infrastructural assets 

These are fixed utility systems that provide a continuing service to the community and are not generally 
regarded as tradeable. They include: 

 all property, plant and equipment associated with water supply, wastewater, storm water and 
waste disposal, including the land that they are located upon 

 all roads, service lanes, footpaths, streetlights, car parks and associated street furniture 

 all public toilets and restrooms, public halls and the land they are situated on. 

Restricted assets 

These assets cannot be disposed of because of legal or other restrictions and provide a benefit or 
service to the community. They include: 

 all property (excluding South Waikato Indoor Pools) associated with recreation, scenic, historic 
purposes, esplanade and local purpose reserves, including the reserve land 

 all cemeteries 

 all land contained within road reserves. 

Measurement at recognition 

All items of property, plant and equipment that qualify for recognition as assets are initially measured 
at cost. An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset only if it is probable that 
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any future economic benefits or service potential associated with them will flow to Council and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is 
recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Measurement after recognition 

Property, plant and equipment are shown at cost or revalued amount, less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. Those asset classes that are revalued are generally valued on a three year 
rotational basis to ensure revalued assets are carried at a value that is not materially different from fair 
value. All revaluations are either performed by independent and qualified valuers or in-house and peer-
reviewed by independent and qualified valuers. All other asset classes are carried at depreciated 
historical cost. 

Library collection 

Valuation is at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Motor vehicles, plant and equipment, furniture and fittings 

Valuation is at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Land and buildings 

Land and buildings including land underneath roads were revalued effective 30 June 2018 by Telfer 
Young, Registered Valuers and Property Consultants, Rotorua, at current market value.  

Land 

Land has been valued based on its current zoning, making allowance for any recent changes and 
designations effective from the new Operative Plan which took over in 2015. Comparable sales have 
been analysed from a wide range of land sales and applied dependent on the location, use and zoning 
of the property. Adjustments have been made for contour, size and other factors. 

Where a property is designated, adjustment for the lifting of the designation has been made.  

Where a property is zoned Reserve, these assets have been valued on an underlying zoning basis. 
From this has been deducted the base valued as Rural, and to the difference applied, a change of 
change which is added back to the base value to arrive at the Reserve value. This is the normally 
accepted method for the valuation of Reserve land.  

Specialised Buildings 

Where there is no reliable market data available for such specialised buildings, the valuations have 
been prepared on a Depreciated Replacement Cost Approach. The replacement cost of the assets is 
adjusted, where required, for optimisation due to over-design or surplus capacity. The replacement cost 
is derived from analysis of costing information held on the valuer's files, costing information derived 
from the marketplace, and costing information provided by Quantity Surveyors and other building 
experts. Construction costs vary dramatically dependent on the building. 

Non-Specialised Buildings 

Non-specialised buildings are those where there are known and active markets e.g. residential houses, 
office buildings, industrial workshops, warehouses and residential flats. These have been valued at fair 
value using market-based sales evidence. 

Parks and Reserves 

Parks and reserves assets were revalued effective 30 June 2018 at depreciated replacement value. 
The revaluation was undertaken using an external consultant, Robert Berghuis, Senior Valuer from 
Beca Projects NZ Limited. The external consultant has an extensive knowledge base and background 
in parks and reserves asset management. 



 

ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
  Page 88 of 128 

The external consultant reviewed the useful lives and replacement cost unit values on Council's fixed 
assets register. The replacement cost unit values were updated to current market values by using either: 

 available current contract-supplier unit rates for equivalent asset types (giving the highest level 
of confidence ) or 

 the 2015 asset values/purchase cost adjusted for industry-specific inflation indices to represent 
estimated replacement costs for modern equivalent asset (MEA) components as at 30 June 2018 
(giving a high level of confidence). 

As part of the revaluation process, where assets that continue to be in commission are found to have a 
remaining life of nil (on Council's fixed assets register), an adjusted remaining useful life of 2.5% of the 
original base life has been made. 

Land under roads 

The valuation methodology used for land underneath roads is the assessment of the value based upon 
an indicated value of the land adjoining the roads. Rural and urban roads have been separated and the 
average land value for adjoining land for each separate division applies. In some cases, a discount has 
been applied to the land value. 

Landfill 

Landfill cell development, pipes and pumps are valued at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment costs. 

Street furniture 

Street furniture is valued at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment costs. 

Roads, footpaths, streetlights, large culverts and bridges 

Roads, footpaths, streetlights, large culverts and bridges were revalued effective 30 June 2020 by 
professionally qualified appointed RATA specialist Cameron Senior, and peer reviewed by WSP New 
Zealand Limited, Auckland at optimised depreciated replacement value. Each asset component was 
valued taking into account its remaining useful life. 

The valuation was performed in accordance with the International Accountancy Standard (IAS 16) 
modified to New Zealand requirements (IPSAS 17), and with New Zealand Local Authority Asset 
Management Practice, New Zealand Infrastructure Asset Management Manual (NZIAMM) and 
Valuations/Depreciation Guidelines. The RAMM valuation module has been used to complete the 
valuation. 

The SWDC transport assets as at 2020 have been valued on a replacement cost basis in accordance 
with accepted New Zealand accounting practices. 

Replacement cost is the cost of building the existing infrastructure using present day technology, but 
maintaining the originally designed level of service, assuming current technology ensures that no value 
results from the additional cost of outdated and expensive methods of construction.  Maintaining the 
original level of service ensures that the existing asset with all its faults is valued, not the currently 
desirable alternative. 

Replacement cost was calculated by multiplying asset quantities by unit cost rates factored to allow for 
other direct costs such as professional fees. 

Unit rates are obtained from a variety of sources, including the following: 

• Recent maintenance contracts for SWDC 

• Recent capital works undertaken for SWDC 

Costs have been used which reflect the increased difficulties and constraints of undertaking 
construction, maintenance and renewal work simultaneously with continued operation of the 
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infrastructure networks.  Operational constraints include access, delivery, safety, security, material 
handling and storage, traffic control and hours available for construction work. 

The unit cost rates used for valuing the SWDC assets reflect an average cost rate for local construction.  

Paper roads with a total length of 151.378km are recorded at land value. 

Wastewater, stormwater and water 

Wastewater, stormwater disposal and water supply property, plant and equipment were revalued on 30 
June 2019 by professionally qualified in-house staff, and peer reviewed by Beca Projects NZ Limited at 
optimised depreciated replacement value. 

The underground reticulation pipework was also revalued on 30 June 2019 by professionally qualified 
in-house staff, and peer reviewed by Beca Projects NZ Limited, at optimised depreciated replacement 
value. 

These assets have been valued by the Optimised Depreciated Replacement Cost approach reflecting 
factors such as technical obsolescence, over engineering and surplus capacity where these have been 
specifically identified by the asset manager.  Assets that have reached the end of their base life (design 
life) have been inspected, a condition based assessment carried out and a decision to replace an asset 
or defer replacement made based on the condition assessment. Allowance has been made for the costs 
of bringing the asset into working condition for its intended use and these costs include engineering 
fees and resource consent costs. 

These assets were revalued in the Assetfinda database using replacement unit costs based on actual 
costs from recent contracts and where required applied an inflation adjustment.  

Costs incurred in obtaining any resource consents are capitalised as part of the asset to which they 
relate. If a resource consent application is declined then all capitalised costs are written off. 

Accounting for revaluations 

Council accounts for revaluations on property, plant and equipment on a class of asset basis. 

The results of revaluing are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated as a separate 
component of equity in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where this results in a debit 
balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this balance is expensed through profit or loss. Any 
subsequent increase on revaluation that off-sets a previous decrease in value recognised in profit or 
loss will be recognised first in profit or loss up to the amount previously expensed and then credited to 
other comprehensive income. 

Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis at rates that reflect their 
estimated useful lives. 

Depreciation is charged to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than land and properties under 
construction and road formation cost, over their estimated useful lives. The depreciation rates are 
applied at a component level and are dependent on the remaining useful life of each component. The 
residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted if applicable, at each financial year 
end. 

Operational and restricted assets  

Heritage assets Not depreciated 

Land Not depreciated 
Buildings 40 - 100 years 

Plant and equipment 5 - 30 years 

Swimming pools 40 - 100 years 
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Motor vehicles 5 years 

Computer equipment and furniture 3 - 10 years 
Library equipment 5 - 10 years 

 

Infrastructural assets  

Roading Network 

Top surface - rural 1 - 18 years 

Top surface – urban 1 – 22 years 

Pavement – rural 40 - 70 years 
Pavement - urban 40 - 99 years 

Culverts 25 - 80 years 

Footpaths 10 - 80 years 
Kerbs 80 years 

Signs 6- 9 years 

Streetlights and poles 25 - 70 years 
Bridges 78 - 118 years 

Land (including land under roads) Not depreciated 
 

Waste 

Landfills, pipes and pumps 7 - 100 years 

 

Wastewater Systems 

Manholes  80 years  

Treatment plant  5 - 80 years  

 

Stormwater Systems 

Reticulated pipework  50 - 90 years  

Manholes and cesspits  90 years  

Detention dams  60 years  
 

Water Supply 

Reticulated pipework  55 - 95 years  
Valves and hydrants  80 years  

Pump stations  Up to 100 years (dependent on componentry)  

Storage tanks  25 - 80 years  
Infrastructural buildings  40 - 100 years  

Street furniture  3 - 10 years  
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Impairment 

All assets, current and non-current, are tested annually for indicators of impairment or whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

Value in use is the depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic benefits or 
service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the assets ability to generate net cash 
inflows and where an entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic 
benefits or service potential. 

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is impaired and the carrying 
amount is written down to the recoverable amount. For revalued assets the impairment loss is 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Where that results in a debit balance in other 
comprehensive income, the balance is recognised in profit or loss. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount, the total impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is credited to the revaluation reserve. However, 
to the extent that an impairment loss for the class of asset was previously recognised in profit or loss, 
a reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in profit or loss. 

For assets not carried at a revalued amount the reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

Disposals 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of 
the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, 
the amounts included in the asset revaluation reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to 
general equity. 

Subsequent cost 

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to Council and the cost can be 
measured reliably. 

Assets under construction 

Capital works under construction are valued at cost. The total cost of the project is transferred to the 
relevant asset class on its completion and then depreciated. 

Vested assets 

Certain infrastructure assets have been vested in Council and are recognised in profit or loss at fair 
value. These assets have been valued based on the actual quantities of infrastructure components 
vested and the current ‘in the ground’ cost of providing identical services. On initial recognition the fair 
value of vested assets is recognised in profit or loss. Subsequent to these vested assets are revalued 
together with other property, plant and equipment, and surpluses or deficits arising on revaluation are 
treated in the same way as other property, plant and equipment.  

Rental property  

Rental property is included in property, plant and equipment in accordance with PBE IPSAS, as the 
rental property is held to provide a social service rather than for rental income, capital appreciation or 
both.  
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Intangible assets  

Computer software  

Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the cost incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software. Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as expense 
when incurred.  

Carbon credits  

Purchased carbon credits are recognised at cost on acquisition. They are not amortised,  but are instead 
tested for impairment annually. They are derecognised when they are used to satisfy carbon emission 
obligations.  

Easements  

No value is attached to easements due to the difficulty in establishing their original cost or fair value.  

Amortisation of intangible assets  

The carrying amount of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset 
is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss. The useful lives 
and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows: 

Computer software 3 – 7 years 

 

Financial instruments  

Financial assets  

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an 
investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe 
established by the market concerned. Investments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs except for those financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss which are initially 
measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial 
assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’, ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ financial 
assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.  

Financial assets at fair value  

Financial assets in this category are either financial assets held for trading or financial assets 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.  

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:  

 it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future or  

 it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Council manages together and 
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking or  

 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or 
loss recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss includes any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 13.  

These consist of forward foreign exchange contracts that are assets. Council uses these derivative 
financial instruments to hedge exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. However, as permitted by 
PBE IPSAS 29, Council does not employ hedge accounting techniques in its accounting for derivative 
financial instruments. After initial measurement these assets are measured at fair value. Any gain or 
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loss arising from a change in the fair value is recognised in profit or loss. Council does not currently 
hold any of these investments.  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

These consist of forward foreign exchange contracts that are assets. Council uses these derivative 
financial instruments to hedge exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations. However, as permitted by 
PBE IPSAS 29, Council does not employ hedge accounting techniques in its accounting for derivative 
financial instruments. After initial measurement these assets are measured at fair value. Any gain or 
loss arising from a change in the fair value is recognised in profit or loss.  

Held to maturity investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturity that Council's management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 
These investments are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment, 
with revenue recognised on an effective interest basis. Currently Council does not hold any assets in 
this category.  

Loans and receivables 

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment. Loans and receivables are 
classified as trade and other receivables in the balance sheet and include rates receivable, accrued 
income and New Zealand Transport Agency subsidies receivable.  

Available for sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as 
available-for-sale or are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Certain shares held by Council are classified as being 
available-for-sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 
13. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in the investment
revaluation reserve, until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the Investment revaluation reserve is included in
profit or loss for the period.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised separately in profit or loss in the 
statement of comprehensive income when Council's right to receive payment is established.  

These include bonds and shares, the investment in Waikato Local Authority Shared Services Limited 
and Local Government Civic Assurance. If these assets are traded in an active market they are 
measured at their fair value using quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market 
price used is the current bid price. If the financial assets are not traded in an active market, their fair 
value is determined using valuation techniques. Council uses a variety of valuation methods and makes 
assumptions based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Of the remaining financial 
assets, if quoted market prices of similar financial assets in the market are not available, other 
techniques such as discounted expected cash flows are utilized to determine their fair value, or 
otherwise cost is used.  

Impairment of financial assets 

At each balance sheet date Council assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Any impairment losses are recognised in the profit or 
loss.  

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective 
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evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial 
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.  

For unlisted shares classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 
the security below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.  

For all other financial assets, including redeemable notes classified as available for sale and financial 
lease receivables, objective evidence of impairment could include:  

 Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty or  

 Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments.  

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use 
of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in 
profit or loss.  

With the exception of available for sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or 
loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed 
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities including debt instruments issued by Council are classified according to the 
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 

The accounting policies adopted for specific financial liabilities are as follows: 

 Bank borrowings 

Interest bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value net of transaction costs, and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

 Debt instruments 

Council issues bonds from time to time to raise funds. These are initially measured at fair value net of 
transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method. 

 Trade payables 

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Derivative financial instruments 

These are mainly forward foreign exchange contracts. These are initially measured at fair value on the 
contract date, and are re-measured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates. Any gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately. 

Council activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates. Council uses derivative financial instruments (primarily foreign currency forward 
contracts) to mitigate its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations which relate to certain firm 
commitments and forecasted transactions. The significant interest rate risk arises from bank loans. 
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The use of financial derivatives is governed by Council’s policies as approved by Council resolution, 
and which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives consistent with Council’s risk 
management strategy. Council does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

Investments in Council controlled organisations 

Council has an interest (2.7%) in a Council Controlled Organisation (CCO), Waikato Local Authority 
Shared Services Limited. Council has no significant influence on operational or financial policies. 

As this investment is not traded on an active market and quoted market prices of similar financial assets 
are not available, the fair value cannot be measured reliably. The investment is therefore measured at 
cost. 

Inventories 

Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services are measured at the lower 
cost or current replacement cost. The cost to these inventories is assigned by using the weighted 
average cost formula. The write down from cost to current replacement cost is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

Foreign currencies 

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange 
rate in effect at the date of the transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated 
in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates 
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date of 
transaction. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the re-translation of monetary 
items, are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the re-translation of 
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences 
arising on the re-translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of 
that gain or loss is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

Goods and services tax (GST) 

All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and payables, 
which are stated on a GST inclusive basis. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax then it is 
recognised as part of the related asset or expense. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to the Inland Revenue (IRD) is included as part of receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet. The 
net amount of GST paid or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flow. Commitments and 
contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST. 

Employee benefits 

Short-term employee entitlements 

Employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date are measured at nominal 
values based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. 
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These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned, but not yet taken 
at balance date, retiring and long service leave entitlements expected to be settled within 12 months, 
and sick leave. 

A liability for sick leave is recognised to the extent that compensated absences in the coming year are 
expected to be greater than the sick leave entitlement earned in the coming year. The amount is 
calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be carried forward at balance date, to 
the extent that it will be used by staff to cover those future absences. 

Long-term entitlements 

Entitlements that are payable beyond 12 months, such as long service leave and retiring leave have 
been calculated on actuarial basis using the service of professional actuaries. The actuarial calculations 
are based on an assumed salary increase of 3.5% (2019: 3.5%) per annum and a discount rate between 
0.22% and 4.30% (2019: 1.26% - 4.21%) per annum. The discount rate is derived from the forward 
rates on NZ Government Bonds over recent periods. It’s also assumed that all employees will retire at 
the age of 65 and will resign in accordance with the withdrawal rate assumption taken from the Treasury 
Circular 1998/15. Any actuarial gain or loss resulting from re-measurement of these liabilities is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Employees appointed to the staff prior to 31 December 1989 who retire from Council with not less than 
ten years continuous service are eligible for retirement leave. Employees appointed to the staff prior to 
1 April 1992 are eligible for long service leave unless excluded under individual employment contracts. 

Presentation of employee entitlements 

Sick leave, annual leave, vested long service leave and non-vested long service leave, and retirement 
gratuities expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date, are classified as a current liability. 
All other employee entitlements are classified as a non-current liability. 

Superannuation schemes 

Defined contribution scheme 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation schemes are recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss. 

Public equity 

Public equity is the community’s interest in the Council, as measured by the value of total assets less 
total liabilities. Public equity is disaggregated and classified into a number of reserves to enable clearer 
identification of the specific uses Council makes of its accumulated surpluses. The components of 
equity are: 

 general equity (retained earnings) 

 restricted reserves 

 Council-created reserves 

 property revaluation reserves 

 investment revaluation reserves. 

Reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular use to which various parts of 
equity have been assigned. 

General equity (retained earnings) 

General equity refers to reserves that do not fall into any of the four categories below. 
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Restricted reserves 

Restricted reserves are those reserves subject to specific conditions accepted as binding by the Council 
and which may not be revised by Council without reference to the Courts or a third party. Transfers from 
these reserves may be made only for certain specific purposes or if certain specified conditions are 
met. The reserves represent balances held from the collection of targeted rates and charges on 
activities that are funded from targeted rating or those same activities funding depreciation. 

Council created reserves 

Council-created reserves are a part of the accumulated balance and are established at the will of 
Council. Council may alter them without reference to any third party or the Courts. Transfers to and 
from these reserves are at the discretion of Council. 

Property revaluation reserves 

Revaluation reserves arise from certain asset classes being revalued. 

Investment revaluation reserve 

The investment revaluation reserve contains cumulative unrealised gains and losses in investments 
classified as ‘available for sale’ in accordance with PBE IPSAS 29. 

Leasing 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Operating leases 

Council as lessee 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Council as lessor 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. 

Provisions 

Council recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount when there is a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that expenditures will be 
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments the time at value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time 
is recognised as an interest expense. 

Landfill closure and post-closure provision 

Council, as operator of the Tokoroa landfill, has a legal obligation under its resource consent, to provide 
on-going maintenance and monitoring services at the landfill site after closure. A provision for closure 
and post-closure costs is recognised as a liability when the obligation for closure and post-closure 
expenses arises. 

A calculation of these future costs has been discounted and is measured based on the present value 
of future cash flows expected to be incurred, taking into account future events, including new legal 
requirements and known improvements in technology. The discount rate used is a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time, value of money and the risks specific to Council. 
Amounts provided for landfill closure and post-closure are capitalised in the landfill asset where they 
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give rise to future economic benefit to be obtained. Components of the capitalised landfill asset are 
depreciated over their useful lives. 

Assumptions about the future have been made in the calculation of the landfill closure and post closure 
cost provisions. These are disclosed in the notes to the financial report.  

Financial guarantee contracts  

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires Council to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due.  

Financial guarantee contracts are disclosed as contingent liabilities. The amount of these contingent 
liabilities is equal to the loan balances guaranteed.  

Critical judgements and estimations  

The preparation of financial statements in conformance with PBE IPSAS requires judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
income and expenditures.  

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revisions affect both current and future 
periods.  

Management has made the following judgments and estimations that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:  

Property, plant and equipment  

As the Council is a Public Benefit Entity, property plant and equipment are valued at depreciated 
replacement cost that is based on an estimate of either fair value or current gross replacement costs of 
improvement less allowances for physical deterioration and optimisation for obsolescence and relevant 
surplus capacity. There are certain assets such as wastewater or stormwater related assets which may 
be affected by changes in the measurement of qualitative standards which could affect the results of 
future periods.  

The depreciation method used reflects the service potential of assets and is reviewed each year to 
ensure that there is no under maintenance of assets which could affect the results of future periods.  

Classification of investments  

Council has designated all of its bond investments as ‘available for sale’, rather than ‘held to maturity’, 
although they all have specific maturity dates. This was due to significant disposals within this class of 
financial asset before maturity in previous financial years. Therefore, unrealised gains and losses on 
these investments are recognised as a movement in other comprehensive income. The carrying amount 
of the available for sale financial assets is disclosed in the notes to the financial report.  

Long service leave provisions  

Key assumptions concerning the future have been made in the actuarial calculation of long service 
leave and retiring leave. These are disclosed in the notes to the financial report.  
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2. COST OF SERVICES 
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3. EXCHANGE/NON-EXCHANGE REVENUE 

 

 

4. RATES REVENUE 

 

Council's rates policy allows Council to remit rates on churches, marae, play centres, schools and other 
community or sporting organisations. There are also remissions on protected land or in certain cases 
where land is being commercially developed. 

In accordance with the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002, certain properties cannot be rated for 
general rates. This includes schools, places of religious worship, public gardens and reserves. These 
non-rateable properties, where applicable, may be subject to targeted rates in respect of wastewater, 
water and refuse. Non-rateable land does not constitute a remission under council rates remission 
policy.  
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5. SUBSIDIES AND GRANTS 

 

There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to subsidies and grants (2019: nil). 

6. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 

 

 

7. OTHER REVENUE 
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 

Defined benefit retirement leave provision 

At the time of retirement from the Council, including early retirement on medical grounds, every 
employee who has completed not less than ten years current continuous service will be entitled to 
retirement leave. The amount of the leave entitlement payable will be calculated at the rate of one 
week's leave for each year of current continuous service, with a maximum of 26 weeks. Any employee 
who was appointed to the staff of Council after December 31, 1989 will not be entitled to any retirement 
leave. If any eligible employee dies whilst in the service of the Council, the Council will pay in lieu to his 
or her estate. No retirement leave entitlement will accrue to an employee who resigns, is dismissed or 
made redundant. 
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Long service compensated leave 

Every employee who has completed a period of 15, 20 and 25 years' current continuous service who 
was employed prior to 1 April 1992 is entitled to a special holiday of two weeks, three weeks and four 
weeks respectively. 

Every employee who was employed on or after 1 July 2003 who is under coverage of the Officers' 
(Public Service Association) Collective Employment Agreement and who has completed a period of 10, 
15 and 20 years' current continuous service will be entitled to a special holiday of one week at each of 
those anniversaries. This clause will not apply to employees who have, or will, become entitled in terms 
of the previous clause. 

Severance Payments 

During the year to 30 June 2020 there were no severance payments made to employees of the South 
Waikato District Council (2019: nil). 
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9. OTHER EXPENSES 

 

 

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

The carrying amount of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates 
their fair value. The weighted average effective interest rate for cash and cash equivalents is 0.05% 
(2019 1%). 

Cash investments in restricted reserves represents the cash portion of the value of the Asset 
Replacement Reserves invested by BNZ Private Bank.  
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11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value. A provision for 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that Council will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
using the effective interest rate method. This provision has been determined by reference to past default 
experience. Council holds no collateral as security or other credit enhancements over receivables that 
are either past due or impaired.  

The age of rates receivables overdue but not impaired are as follows: 
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12. INVENTORIES 

 

13. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

Fair value 

The fair value of loans and receivables has been determined using cash flows discounted at a rate 
based on the South Waikato District Council’s borrowing rates – 2020 Nil (2019: Nil). The fair value 
approximates the carry amount stated above.  

The shares in Civic Financial Services Limited, and Shared Valuation Database Systems are unlisted. 
The fair value of these unlisted shares has not been disclosed for these instruments because their fair 
value cannot be measured reliably. It cannot be reliably measured due to a lack of an active market 
and a lack of appropriate cashflow projection information for Civic Financial Services Limited.  

Shared Valuation Database Systems shares cannot be reliably measured due to the lack of an active 
market and reliable revenue stream information. Council does not intend to dispose of the unlisted 
shares. 

Impairment 

No impairment provisions were made for other financial assets. 

  



 

ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
  Page 107 of 128 

14. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 

 

Council has approved the sale of these properties and they are currently available for sale. The 
completion date of the properties listed under current is expected to be by 30 June 2020. 

The accumulated property revaluation reserve recognised in equity for these properties at 30 June 2020 
is $684,624 (2019:$496,000). 
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
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During the revaluation of the transport assets it was recognised that Covid-19 could have two potential 
impacts on this year’s transport asset valuation. There is the impact on market prices for the 
construction of transport infrastructure and the level of demand for the use which in turn determines the 
optimised quantum of infrastructure assets to be valued.  

Market price impacts were shown in the decrease of the NZTA indices between December 2019 and 
March 2020 but it was recognised that the effects are likely to be more short term. The recommendation 
in this case was to follow standard indexing procedure and monitoring the actual indices during the next 
valuation period. 

Demand on South Waikato District Council transport assets were recognised as not likely to be reduced 
as a result of Covid-19.  

Consequently, the quantum of assets remains appropriate and optimised from a valuation and financial 
reporting purpose and did not impact significantly on this year’s revaluation of the transport assets. 

The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment held under a finance lease is $Nil; (2019 
$Nil). No impairment losses have been recognised in infrastructural assets due to damage or rapid wear 
and tear. No compensation has been received from insurance claims for damage to motor vehicles and 
equipment (2019 $Nil). The closing balance of the revaluation reserve is $278,570,000 (2019 
$258,942,000). 

Depreciation and amortisation expense by group of activity 



 

ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
  Page 111 of 128 

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

The intangible assets included above have finite useful lives of between 3-4 years, over which the 
assets are amortised. These assets are amortised on a straight-line basis. The amortisation charge for 
the year is included in the depreciation and amortisation expense line of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense. 

Carbon credits 

Council has previously acquired carbon credits for the purpose of meeting its obligations under the 
Emissions Trading Scheme for carbon emissions from its landfill operations. Council is required to forfeit 
carbon credits for emissions following the end of each calendar year. 

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on the 20th of the following 
month basis. Therefore, the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates their fair value. 
Furthermore, the carrying amount of trust accounts approximates their fair value. 
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18. LANDFILL PROVISIONS

Council operates the Tokoroa landfill under various resource consent conditions. Council has 
responsibility, under the resource consent, to provide ongoing maintenance and monitoring of the 
landfill after the site is closed. The Tīrau landfill site has been permanently closed and the surface of 
the site capped to resource consent standards. There are closure and post-closure responsibilities such 
as the following: 

Closure responsibilities 

Include final cover application and vegetation, incremental drainage control features, completing 
facilities for leachate collection and monitoring, water quality monitoring and gas recovery and 
monitoring. 

Post closure responsibilities 

Include treatment and monitoring of leachate, ground water and surface monitoring, gas monitoring and 
recovery, implementation of remedial measures such as needed for cover and control systems and 
ongoing site maintenance for drainage systems, final cover and vegetation. 

Capacity of the site 

Final capping at Tokoroa is programmed for 2020. The remaining capacity of the site (refuse, clean fill 
and cover) is approximately 12,000 cubic metres (2019: 20,000 cubic metres). Estimates of life have 
been made by Council's Engineers, based on historical volume information. The cash out flows for 
landfill post closure are expected to occur between 2004 and 2054. The long term nature of the liability 
means that there are inherent uncertainties in estimating costs that will be incurred. The provision has 
been estimated, taking into account technology, and is discounted using forward rates of 0.22%-2.87% 
(2019: forward rates of 1.26%-3.41%) as provided by the New Zealand Treasury. 
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19. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

20. BORROWINGS
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Council’s source of external borrowing at 30 June 2020 is a customised average rate term loan 
(CARL) with a limit of $17m (2019: $17m). Within the facility is one fixed rate funding agreement of 
$2.5m which expired 30 June 2020. The total of the approved facilities is $17m (2019: $17m). 

Security 

Council loans are secured over targeted and general rates revenue of the district by Deed of Charge 
in favour of the Bank of New Zealand. Council manages its borrowings in accordance with its funding 
and financial policies, which includes a Liability Management Policy. There were no changes to the 
Liability Management Policy during the period. 

21. EQUITY 

 



 

ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
  Page 115 of 128 

MOVEMENT OF COUNCIL CREATED, RESTRICTED AND DEPRECIATION RESERVES 
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Purpose of reserves 

Pensioner housing: Manage the surpluses and deficits from the pensioner housing activity, when more 
or less rental is collected than is required to fund the annual expenditure of the pensioner houses. 

SWDC asset purchase: Hold the proceeds from the sale of assets until they are applied to purchase 
other assets. 

South Waikato Economic Development Fund: Council expressed in its Long Term Plan 2006-2016 that 
Council would take a leadership decision to establish a South Waikato Development Fund of $4.5 
million. The fund would support developments that the community considered are needed across the 
district. It was specifically established to develop facilities and amenities of strategic value to the district 
that would otherwise require financing through rate funding; enhance local employment opportunities 
and economic growth; and attract and retain residents by making the district a more desirable place to 
live. 

Roading reserve extra NZTA Subsidy: This reserve was created from additional subsidy provided from 
NZTA in 17/18 for work relating to the 16/17 year. The reserve was used to fund part of the roading 
programme in 18/19 and 19/20. 

SW Economic Development Trust: This reserve is committed to fund trade training initiatives. 

Riverside access: Manage sale of proceeds from certain stopped roads. This is to be used for opening 
up areas to public access in the South Waikato district. 

Financial contributions: To manage financial contributions levied from the development of subdivisions 
until this funding is used for the development of related activities. 

National waste levy: Manage the funds received from government relating to the national waste levy 
levied. 

Mayoral grants reserve: If the mayoral grants are not spent, they will be transferred to this reserve to 
be available in the following year.  

Forestry/Airport reserve: To ring fence the proceeds of the sale of harvested logs near the airport to be 
used in the future to fund the replacement of the runway and maintenance of the planted forest. 

Land purchase reserve: To ring fence the loan costs from the purchase of strategic land. When this 
land is sold, the proceeds will be applied against this reserve.  

Whakamaru Forestry reserve: To ring fence the proceeds of the sale of trees from the Whakamaru 
reserve to be used in the future for tree planting at the reserve.  

Solid Waste ringfencing: The Tokoroa landfill is projected to be closed in September 2020. The 
increased fees which were applied from 1 March 2019 were to fund additional operating costs from 1 
March to 30 September 2020. This reserve is being used to ring fence those costs and revenues over 
the 3 financial years.  

Restricted (targeted rate) reserves: Targeted rate reserves are used to manage the surpluses and 
deficits of specific targeted activities such as water, stormwater, wastewater and halls that arise when 
more or less rates revenue is collected to fund the annual expenditure of that activity. This ensures that 
rates collected from a certain group of targeted rate payers can only be used for the benefit of that 
group. 

Asset replacement reserves: These accumulate funds from rates and are used for the future capital 
funding for the replacement of assets. Each major activity group e.g. water, roading, wastewater, storm 
water, solid waste, has their own depreciation reserve so that the funds from each can be applied to 
the appropriate activity’s capital expenditure. 

Asset replacement reserve – general rating activities: This reserve accumulates funded depreciation 
and is used to fund replacement capital expenditure for general rated activities. 
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22. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 

 

 

23. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Capital commitment represents capital expenditure contracted for at balance date by not yet earned: 

There is $11.7m of capital commitments at 30 June 2020 (2019: $1.0m). This relates to the Leith Place 
contracts, Tokoroa Transfer Station contracts, Tokoroa Wastewater Treatment Plant Digester Upgrade 
contracts, the Putāruru Zone District Plan Infrastructure contract, the Putāruru Water Park design 
contract and the Putāruru Water Infrastructure Upgrade at Glenshea contract. This work is currently 
contracted as at 30 June but has not been completed.  

Contingent Liabilities 

Responsibility for shortfall for mutual liability 

Up until 30 June 2012, the South Waikato District Council was a member of the New Zealand Mutual 
Liability RiskPool. 

The New Zealand Mutual Liability RiskPool had been the key mechanism for the sector to protect itself 
against public liability and professional indemnity claims over the past fifteen years. 

In 2012 Council received advice from RiskPool that payments of weather tightness claims on behalf of 
members were at a level that had resulted in deficits for the fund. These deficits would require calls on 
members under the mutual fund rules to meet the funding shortfalls. The mutual fund's rules also require 
the South Waikato District Council to share in the funding of shortfalls, for those years the Council has 
been a member of RiskPool (even after it has exited the mutual fund). 

There remains the potential for further currently unquantified obligations/calls on Council. There is 
considerable uncertainty about any future claims and Council is uncertain if there will be additional 
obligations. 
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24. REMUNERATION 

Chief Executive 

During the year ended 30 June 2020, Council’s Chief Executive was remunerated as follows: 

 

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the total annual cost including fringe benefit tax to the South Waikato 
District Council of the remuneration package being received by the Chief Executive is calculated at 
$285,000 (2019:$284,000) 

Key Management Personnel 

Key management personnel includes the Mayor, Councillors, the Chief Executive and other senior 
management of Council. 

 

In the current year, the number of key management personnel increased from 5 to 7. 
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Council Employees 

The total annual remuneration by band for employees as at 30 June are: 

 

At balance date, the Council employed 115 full-time employees (2019: 109), with the balance of staff 
representing 16.66 (2019: 16.35) full-time equivalent employees. A full-time employee is determined on 
the basis of a 37.5-hour working week. 

25. COUNCILLOR REMUNERATION 

Elected Representatives 

The following monetary and non-monetary remuneration was paid to Councillors and Community Board 
representatives during the year. Monetary remuneration excludes payment of non-taxable allowances 
which are considered reimbursement of actual expenses incurred. 
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26. RELATED PARTIES 

Related party transactions should be disclosed when they are other than that which would occur within 
a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable 
than those which it is reasonable to expect the entity would have adopted if dealing with that individual 
or entity at arm’s length in the same circumstances. 

As at 30 June 2020 Mayor Jenny Shattock was a non-voting advising Trustee on the South Waikato 
Investment Fund Trust (SWIF Trust), representing the Council. All transactions between South Waikato 
District Council and the SWIF Trust are carried out at arm’s length. 

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Fair values hierarchy disclosures 

For those instruments recognised at fair value in the balance sheet, fair values are determined 
according to the following hierarchy. 

Quoted market price (level 1) – financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in 
active markets 

Valuation technique using observable inputs (level 2) – financial instruments with quoted prices for 
similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in active 
markets and financial instruments valued using models where all significant inputs are observable 
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Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs (level 3) – financial instruments valued 
using models where one or more significant inputs are not observables. 

The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of financial instruments measured at 
fair value in the statement of financial position. 

 

There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy. 

Financial instrument risks 

Council has a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments. The South 
Waikato District Council is risk averse and seeks to minimise exposure from its treasury activities. 
Council has established Liability Management and Investment policies which have been adopted by 
Council.  

These policies do not allow any transactions that are speculative in nature to be entered into. 

Market Risk 

Price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices. Council is exposed to price risk on its equity and bond investments, which are classified as 
available for-sale-financial assets. 

The price risk is managed by diversification of Council investment portfolio in accordance with the limits 
set out in Council Investment policy. 

Currency Risk 

Currency risk is the risk that cash flows relating to certain forecast transactions or firm commitments 
will fluctuate. 

Council is managing this risk through forward foreign exchange contracts. 
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Fair value interest rate risk 

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Borrowing and investment at fixed interest rates expose Council to 
fair value interest rate risk. Council manages its interest rate exposure by restricting the gross interest 
of all external borrowing to 10% of total revenues and to 15% of Council's operating revenue. Council 
can also use interest rate derivatives such as interest rate swaps and options to manage interest rate 
risks when the need arises. Interest rates on borrowings are subject to quarterly repricing. 

Cash flow interest rate risk 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in floating interest rates and borrowings. Council is exposed to cash flow interest 
rate risk on cash and cash equivalents. 

Sensitivity analysis 

The table below illustrates the potential profit or loss and equity (excluding retained earnings) impact 
for reasonably possible market movement, with all other variables held constant, based on Council’s 
financial instruments exposures at the balance date. The particular sensitivities chosen for the analysis 
reflect the actual movements that occurred in the relevant immediately preceding financial year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

ECM Docset ID: 534839 South Waikato District Council Annual Report 2019-20 
  Page 123 of 128 

Explanation of sensitivity analysis 

Financial assets 

a - General funds fixed interest bonds 

A total of $1,508,900 (2019: $4,030,064) invested in local bonds is classified as available for sale 
financial assets. A movement in interest rates of plus or minus 0.5% in 2019-20 would have had an 
impact of +/- $8,000 (2019: $20,000) on the fair value of the asset and the investment revaluation 
reserve. 

b - Borrowings 

A total of $17,000,000 (2019: $15,609,000) is classified as long term borrowings. A movement of plus 
or minus 0.25% in interest rates in 2019-20 would have had an impact of +/-$43,000 (2019: $39,000) 
on the profit or loss. 

c - International fixed interest bonds 

A total of $4,753,706 (2019: $4,415,120) is classified as available for sale financial assets. A movement 
of plus or minus 0.5% in the US exchange in 2019-20 would have had an impact of $24,000 (2019: 
$22,000) on the fair value of the asset and the investment revaluation reserve. 

d - International equity 

A total of $9,253,521 (2019: $7,550,366) is classified as available for sale financial assets. A movement 
of plus or minus 0.5% in the US exchange rate in 2019-20 would have had an impact of $46,000 (2019: 
$38,000) on the fair value of the asset and the investment revaluation reserve. 

e - Australian equity 

A total of $4,657,536 (2019: $3,417,975) is classified as available for sale financial assets. A movement 
of plus or minus 0.5% in the US exchange rate in 2019-20 would have had an impact of $23,000 (2019: 
$17,000) on the fair value of the asset and the investment revaluation reserve. 

f - International cash 

A total of $0 (2019: $0) was cash held in US & AU dollars, and classified as available for sale financial 
assets. A movement of plus or minus 10% in the exchange rate in 2019-20 would have had an impact 
of $0 (2019: $0) on the fair value of the asset and the investment revaluation reserve. 

g - NZ equity investments 

A total of $0 (2019: $0) invested in listed local shares classified as available for sale financial assets. A 
movement of plus or minus 5% in share prices in 2019-20 would have had an impact of $0 (2019: $0) 
on the fair value of the asset and the investment revaluation reserve. 

h - NZ property investments 

A total of $0 (2019: $0) invested in the New Zealand property equity market is classified as available 
for sale financial assets. A movement of plus or minus 5% in the New Zealand property share prices in 
2019-20 would have had an impact of $0 (2019: $0) on the fair value of the asset and the investment 
revaluation reserve. 

i - International equity investments 

A total of $9,253,521 (2019: $7,550,366) invested in overseas shares is classified as available for sale 
financial assets. A movement of plus or minus 5% in share prices in 2019-20 would have had an impact 
of $463,000 (2019: $378,000) on the fair value of the asset and the investment revaluation reserve. 
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j - Australian equity investments 

A total of $4,657,536 (2019: $3,417,975) invested in Australian shares is classified as available for sale 
financial assets. A movement of plus or minus 5% in share prices in 2019-20 would have had an impact 
of $233,000 (2019: $171,000) on the fair value of the asset and the investment revaluation reserve. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to Council, causing Council to incur 
a loss. Council has no significant concentration of credit risk, as it has a large number of credit 
customers, mainly ratepayers, and Council has powers under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 
to recover outstanding debts from ratepayers. Investments are also well diversified across a wide range 
of companies and industries. Accordingly, Council does not require any collateral or security to support 
these financial instruments. The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of all 
financial assets. 

Credit quality of financial assets 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired are assessed by reference 
to Standard and Poor's or other recognised credit ratings, or historical information about counterparty 
default rates: 

Trade and other receivables mainly arise from Council’s statutory functions, therefore there are no 
procedures in place to monitor or report the credit quality of trade and other receivables with reference 
to internal or external credit ratings. 

Council has no significant concentration of credit risk in relation to trade and other receivables, as it has 
a large number of credit customers (mainly ratepayers) and Council has powers under the Local 
Government (Rating) Act 2002 to recover outstanding debts from ratepayers. 

Liquidity risk 

Management of liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Council will encounter difficulty raising funds to meet commitments as they 
fall due. Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining sufficient cash in the form of bank current 
accounts and demand deposits. In meeting its liquidity requirements, Council maintains access to a 
committed facility with BNZ from which funds can be drawn at any time. 
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Liquidity and market risk 

Interest rates ranged from 0.5% to 1.5% (0.5% to 1.5% for 2019). Council policy restricts loan principal 
outstanding to the value of the District's annual revenue. Loan principal outstanding was 43% of the 
annual revenue (2019: 40%).  

Fair Value 

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities: 

 

Trade and other payables do not have a weighted average interest rate due to them being settled on 
the 20th of each month. 

28. OPERATING LEASE AS LESSOR 

Council leases its operational properties under operating leases. The great majority of these leases 
have a non-cancellable term that ranges between one and thirty years. The future aggregate minimum 
lease payments to be collected under non-cancellable leases are as follows: 

 

No contingent rents have been recognised in the profit and loss during the period (2019:$nil). 
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29. INSURANCE CONTRACTS 

South Waikato District Council is part of a Regional collective of local authorities for insurance purposes. 
Through the collective economies of scale Council has access to the best process and cover. 

As at the end of the financial year, Council had the following insurance cover in place: 

Material damage excluding fire - $150,000,000 

Material damage fire only - $30,000,000 

Council's Material Damage cover is based on a Maximum Probable Loss model (MPL) which means 
that its assets are insured for the value of the largest probable loss that could result from a disaster in 
the South Waikato. Council is insured within a $150 million primary layer which is shared between the 
Regional collective. A separate policy is in place which is shared by the Regional collective which 
provides cover for damage that is caused by fire, or fire following a natural disaster, with SWDC limit 
being $30 million.  

Commercial motor vehicles $944,039 

Motor insurance up to the market value of each individual vehicle. 

Infrastructure $98,579,173 

Based on risk engineering and loss modelling for the Waikato hazard scape a $300 million shared loss 
limit is in place with the Regional collective. Each council then has its own sublimit in place based on 
their individual exposures. SWDC loss limit is $25m.  Insurance is to the level of 40% in anticipation of 
60% contribution from central government in the event of a disaster. In addition to this SWDC have 
access to a second cover for the 60% up to a shared loss limit of $10 million.  

Business interruption 

A shared $10 million Additional Increased Cost of Working limit with the Regional collective and 
provides cover for consequential loss through the physical damage to any property used by Council. 
There is also an additional $2.5 million claim preparation costs cover associated with this contract. 

Professional indemnity $50,000,000 

Public liability $50,000,000 

30. MAJOR BUDGET VARIATIONS 

Statement of comprehensive revenue and expense 

Subsidies and Grants revenue is $0.2m higher than budgeted. This is due to the additional funding 
received from NZTA for the completion of State Highway One stormwater work during the financial year 
offset by lower NZTA subsidies for other roading work affected by COVID-19 delays. 

Depreciation is $0.4m less than expected. This was due to the delays in the capital expenditure 
programme being completed 

Other expenses are $0.7m higher than expected. This is due to an increase in chemical, laboratory 
services and energy costs in the water and wastewater activities, an increase in refuse collection costs 
as part of the open spaces contract and general operational increases in the infrastructure and 
maintenance areas. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

Other reserves are $17m higher than expected. This is mainly due to the increase in the property 
revaluation and investment revaluation reserves by $20m offset by the $3m reduction in restricted 
reserves and council created reserves.  

Property, plant and equipment non-current assets at balance date is $8.3m less than expected due to 
the delays in the completion of capital projects. 

Total borrowings are $10.5m lower than expected. This is mainly due to the delays in the capital 
expenditure programme being completed.  

Statement of Cashflows 

Purchase of property plant and equipment is $10.6m lower than expected. This is due to the delays in 
the capital expenditure programme being completed.  

Loans raised are $10.6m lower than expected. This is due to the delays in the capital expenditure 
programme being completed.  

31. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Council’s capital is its equity (or ratepayers’ funds), which comprise retained earnings and reserves. 
Equity is represented by net assets. 

The Local Government Act 2002 (the Act) requires the Council to manage its revenues, expenses, 
assets, liabilities, investments, and general financial dealings prudently, and in a manner that promotes 
the current and future interests of the community. Ratepayer’s funds are largely managed as a by-
product of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments and general financial dealings. 

The objective of managing these items is to achieve intergenerational equity, which is a principle 
promoted in the Act and applied by the Council. Intergenerational equity requires today’s rate payers to 
meet the costs of utilising the Council’s assets and not expecting them to meet the full cost of long-term 
assets that will benefit ratepayers in future generations. Additionally, the Council has in place asset 
management plans for major classes of assets detailing renewal and maintenance programmes, to 
ensure ratepayers in future generations are not required to meet the costs of deferred renewals and 
maintenance. 

The Act requires the Council to make adequate and effective provision in its Long Term Plan (LTP) and 
in its Annual Plan (where applicable) to meet the expenditure needs identified in those plans. The Act 
sets out the factors that the Council is required to consider when determining the most appropriate 
sources of funding for each of its activities. The sources and levels of funding are set out in the funding 
and financial policies in the Council’s LTP. 

The South Waikato District Council has the following reserves: 

 reserves for different areas of benefit 

 self–insurance reserves 

 trust reserves 

 other reserves 

Reserves for different areas of benefit are used where there is a discrete set of rate or levy payers as 
distinct from the general rate. Any surplus or deficit relating to these separate areas of benefit is applied 
to the specific reserves. 

Trust reserves are set up where Council has been donated funds that are restricted for particular 
purposes. Interest is added to trust reserves where applicable and deductions are made where funds 
have been used for the purpose they were donated. 
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Other reserves are created to set aside funding from general rates for future expenditure on specific 
projects or activities as approved by Council. 

Council categorises self-insurance reserves and other reserves as “Council Created Reserves”, while 
the others are categorised as “Restricted Reserves” (refer Note 21). 

32. COVID-19 IMPACT 

During 2019-20 there was a period of time where New Zealand was in varying stages of lockdown. The 
effect on revenue for the South Waikato District Council was not significant as it mainly related to the 
hire of the Events Centre, pool attendees and the borrowing of books. Part of the revenue effect was 
offset by casual staff which were not required during this period. The Landfills were not open during this 
time either but there was a significant catch up period when we entered Level 2.   

During this year’s transport asset revaluation process the potential impacts of Covid-19 were evaluated 
and is was determined that the impact was not significant. The quantum of assets remains appropriate 
and optimised from a valuation and financial reporting perspective. This is referred to in Note 15 of 
these financial statements. 

The most significant effect was the delay in completing capital works and this has resulted in a larger 
carryover budget from the 2019-20 year to the 2020-21 year than expected. 

33. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE 

The South Waikato District Council has updated its borrowing facility from the Bank of New Zealand 
to the Local Government Funding Authority as approved by the South Waikato District Council 
Councillors on 30 July 2020 effective 3 August 2020.  

 




